

Riemannian optimization of photonic quantum circuits in phase and Fock space

Yuan Yao, Filippo Miatto, Nicolás Quesada

▶ To cite this version:

Yuan Yao, Filippo Miatto, Nicolás Quesada. Riemannian optimization of photonic quantum circuits in phase and Fock space. SciPost Physics, 2024, 10.21468/SciPostPhys. hal-04701974

HAL Id: hal-04701974 https://telecom-paris.hal.science/hal-04701974v1

Submitted on 19 Sep 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Riemannian optimization of photonic quantum circuits in phase and Fock space

Yuan Yao^{1,2,3*}, Filippo Miatto^{1,2,3†} and Nicolás Quesada^{4‡}

 Télécom Paris, LTCI, 20 Place Marguerite Perey, 91120 Palaiseau, France
 Institut Polytechnique de Paris, 5 Av. Le Chatelier, 91764 Palaiseau, France
 Xanadu, 777 Bay St. M5G 2C8 Toronto, ON, Canada
 Department of Engineering Physics, École Polytechnique de Montréal, Montréal, QC, H3T 1J4, Canada

* yuan.yao@telecom-paris.fr, † filippo@xanadu.ai, ‡ nicolas.quesada@polymtl.ca

Abstract

We propose a framework to design and optimize generic photonic quantum circuits composed of Gaussian objects (pure and mixed Gaussian states, Gaussian unitaries, Gaussian channels, Gaussian measurements) as well as non-Gaussian effects such as photonnumber-resolving measurements. In this framework, we parametrize a phase space representation of Gaussian objects using elements of the symplectic group (or the unitary or orthogonal group in special cases), and then we transform it into the Fock representation using a single linear recurrence relation that computes the Fock amplitudes of any Gaussian object recursively. We also compute the gradient of the Fock amplitudes with respect to phase space parameters by differentiating through the recurrence relation. We can then use Riemannian optimization on the symplectic group to optimize M-mode Gaussian objects, avoiding the need to commit to particular realizations in terms of fundamental gates. This allows us to "mod out" all the different gate-level implementations of the same circuit, which now can be chosen after the optimization has completed. This can be especially useful when looking to answer general questions, such as bounding the value of a property over a class of states or transformations, or when one would like to worry about hardware constraints separately from the circuit optimization step. Finally, we make our framework extendable to non-Gaussian objects that can be written as linear combinations of Gaussian ones, by explicitly computing the change in global phase when states undergo Gaussian transformations. We implemented all of these methods in the freely available open-source library MrMustard [1], which we use in three examples to optimize the 216-mode interferometer in Borealis, and 2- and 3-modes circuits (with Fock measurements) to produce cat states and cubic phase states.

© Opyright Y. Yao <i>et al</i> .	Received	01-08-2023	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted	30-08-2024	Cheek for
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published	18-09-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.214	68/SciPostPhys.1	7.3.082

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Gaussian formalism2.1Commutation relations	4 4

	2.2 Gaussian states	5				
	2.3 Gaussian transformations	5				
3	One recurrence relation to rule them all	8				
Ū	3.1 Multidimensional Hermite polynomials	9				
	3.2 States	10				
	3.3 Transformations	12				
4	Global phase of the Fock representation	15				
5	Learning Gaussian states and transformations	17				
	5.1 The symplectic group	17				
	5.2 Tangent and normal spaces	17				
	5.3 Riemannian metric on Sp $(2n)$	18				
	5.4 Geodesic optimization on $Sp(2n)$ and $U(n)$	19				
	5.5 The Riemannian update step in practice	19 20				
	5.0 Discussion	20				
6	Numerical experiments	21				
	6.1 Minimizing the sparsity of the adjacency matrix of high-dimensional Gaussian					
	boson sampling instance	21				
	6.2 State preparation	23				
	6.2.1 Cat state	23				
	6.2.2 Cubic phase state	24				
7	Extensions to linear combinations of Gaussians	25				
8	Conclusion	26				
Α	A Review of the symplectic formalism 2					
B	Choi-Jamiołkowski duality	28				
С	C Description of the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality in phase-space 30					
D	D Unitary processes 32					
Ε	E Passive processes 34					
F	F Global phase of the composition of two Gaussian transformations 35					
G	Riemannian gradient of the unitary group	36				
Н	H Solution of the cubic phase state optimization 37					
Ι	Comparison of Riemannian optimization and Euclidean optimization 37					
Re	ferences	40				

1 Introduction

Gaussian quantum mechanics [2–4] is a subset of quantum mechanics that finds applications in several fields of quantum physics, such as quantum optics [5], quantum key distribution [6], optomechanical systems [7], quantum chemistry [8], condensed matter systems [9]. In the context of quantum optics, many of the available states (e.g. coherent, squeezed, thermal), transformations (e.g. beam splitter, squeezer, displacement, attenuator, amplifier), and measurements (e.g. homodyne, heterodyne) are Gaussian, i.e. characterized by a Gaussian Wigner function. Gaussian objects are easy to simulate, but in order to access a broader (in fact, universal) set of states and transformations, one needs to include non-Gaussian effects. One way to take into account non-Gaussian effects (e.g. photon-number-resolving detection), is to transform from the Gaussian phase space representation to the Fock space representation. Hence, studying the Fock space representation of Gaussian objects plays an important role in optical quantum simulation and optical quantum information processing [10–15].

The Fock space representation of Gaussian objects has been studied in different communities: in chemical physics, one studies vibronic transitions using the Hermite polynomials as a computational tool [16–19], and the matrix elements of unitary Gaussian and non-Gaussian transformations have been evaluated in [20] by using the multimode Bogoliubov transformation. In the mathematical physics context, these transformations correspond to the Bargmann-Fock representation of the symplectic group (also known as a metaplectic representation or oscillator representation), which we can understand as the Fock space representation of the group of Gaussian transformations [21].

In [22], we introduced a method to compute the Fock space amplitudes of Gaussian unitary transformations using a generating function. Part of the present work presents a unified picture of all the Gaussian objects covering pure states, mixed states, and Gaussian channels as well. While many libraries exist to simulate quantum optical circuits [23–30], and some of them have automatic differentiation capabilities, ours is the first one to fully exploit the properties of Gaussian quantum mechanics in Fock- and Phase-space while being differentiable. Thus, we implemented all of the methods and algorithms derived here in the open-source library MrMustard [1]. We showcase out methods by performing optimization on photonic circuits directly. This allows us to generate interesting non-Gaussian states [31].

Besides an open-source library, we present three results, significantly extending what we did in [22]: (i) In Sec. 3 we introduce a unified, differentiable recursive representation of pure [11,32] and mixed Gaussian states [10,12,33], Gaussian unitaries [34,35] and Gaussian channels in Fock space. We emphasize that while the results for states and unitary channels were already known in the literature, the results for channels, are to the best of our knowledge, presented here for the first time. (ii) In Sec. 4 we compute the global phase of the composition of Gaussian operations, which allows our method to be extended to states and transformations beyond the Gaussian ones as proposed in [36]. (iii) In Sec. 5 we show how to perform a Riemannian optimization of M-modes Gaussian objects directly on the underlying symmetry group, bypassing the need to decompose them into some arrangement of fundamental elements and therefore allowing us to optimize a Gaussian quantum circuit as an entire block. Our method first focuses on the optimization of the Gaussian objects and their associated symplectic matrices. We illustrate the utility of our methods and library by finding simple Gaussian circuits for the heralded preparation of cat states with mean photon number 4, fidelity 99.38%, and success probability 7.39%. Similarly, we obtain cubic-phase states with cubic-phase gate parameter $\gamma = 0.3\hbar$ and squeezing r = -1, fidelity 99.00%, and success probability 0.06%. Finally, we also benchmark our Riemannian optimization method showing that in non-Gaussian state preparation tasks it converges faster and with smaller variance than Euclidean optimization over parameters of gate-decomposed circuits.

We will adopt the following notation conventions. The transposition and Hermitian conjugation operations are denoted as \cdot^{T} and \cdot^{\dagger} . We use boldface for vectors \mathbf{r} and matrices \mathbf{S} but denote their components as r_i and S_{ij} respectively. We use 0_M for the $M \times M$ null matrix, $\mathbf{0}$ for a zero vector, and 0 for a scalar zero. The single-mode vacuum state denotes as $|0\rangle$ and the multimode vacuum state is $|\mathbf{0}\rangle$. $\mathbb{1}_M$ denotes for the $M \times M$ identity matrix. Given a vector of integers $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \ldots, n_M)$ we write $\mathbf{n}! = \prod_{i=1}^M n_i!$, $|\mathbf{n}\rangle = |n_1\rangle \otimes |n_2\rangle \otimes \ldots \otimes |n_M\rangle$ and given a complex or real vector $\mathbf{a} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_M)^T$ we write $\mathbf{a}^n = \prod_{i=1}^M \alpha_i^{n_i}$ and $\partial_{\mathbf{a}}^n = \prod_{i=1}^M \frac{\partial^{n_i}}{\partial \alpha_i^{n_i}}$. We write H.c. for Hermitian conjugate term.

2 Gaussian formalism

2.1 Commutation relations

Given an *M*-mode quantum continuous variable system, the field operators (i.e. annihilation and creation operators) a_j , a_j^{\dagger} ; $j \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ satisfy the canonical commutation relation [37]:

$$[a_i, a_j^{\dagger}] = \delta_{ij}, \quad [a_i, a_j] = [a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}] = 0.$$
⁽¹⁾

We can express these relations in a compact way by defining a vector of annihilation and creation operators $\mathbf{z} = (a_1, \dots, a_M, a_1^{\dagger}, \dots, a_M^{\dagger})$, so that we can write

$$[z_i, z_i^{\dagger}] = Z_{ij}, \qquad (2)$$

with

$$\mathbf{Z} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M & \mathbf{0}_M \\ \mathbf{0}_M & -\mathbb{1}_M \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3}$$

An alternative way to describe continuous-variable systems is obtained by defining the hermitian position q and momentum p operators:

$$q_j = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2}} (a_j^{\dagger} + a_j), \quad p_j = i \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2}} (a_j^{\dagger} - a_j).$$
 (4)

We can group these operators into a quadrature vector $\mathbf{r} = (q_1, \dots, q_M, p_1, \dots, p_M)$ so that \mathbf{r} is related to \mathbf{z} by the unitary matrix W:

$$\boldsymbol{r} = \sqrt{\hbar W \boldsymbol{z}},\tag{5}$$

where

$$W = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M & \mathbb{1}_M \\ -i\mathbb{1}_M & i\mathbb{1}_M \end{pmatrix},\tag{6}$$

and $i = \sqrt{-1}$ is the imaginary unit.

Combining Eq. (2) and Eq. (5), we have:

$$[r_j, r_k] = \hbar (\boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{Z} \boldsymbol{W})_{jk} = i\hbar \Omega_{jk}, \qquad (7)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\Omega}$ is the skew-symmetric matrix:

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_M & \mathbb{1}_M \\ -\mathbb{1}_M & \mathbf{0}_M \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{1} \\ -1 & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \mathbb{1}_M, \qquad (8)$$

which is central to the description of the symplectic group (see section 5). A brief summary of properties of the symplectic group can be found in Appendix A.

2.2 Gaussian states

A Gaussian state is any state whose characteristic functions and quasi-probability distributions are Gaussian functions in phase space [37]. Some well-known examples are coherent states, squeezed states, thermal states, and the vacuum state (which is the only state which is at the same time Gaussian and a number eigenstate).

The characteristic function of a state with density matrix ρ is defined as:

$$\chi(\boldsymbol{s};\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{D}_{\boldsymbol{s}}\rho), \tag{9}$$

where $\mathcal{D}_s = \exp(-is^T \Omega r / \hbar)$ is the Weyl, or displacement, operator and $s \in \mathbb{R}^{2M}$ is a real vector in phase space.

For a Gaussian state we write the characteristic function in terms of its mean vector \bar{r} and covariance matrix V as [38]

$$\chi(s;\rho) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}s^T \Omega^T V \Omega s - i\bar{r}^T \Omega s\right], \qquad (10)$$

where

$$\bar{r}_i = \langle r_i \rangle, \tag{11}$$

$$V_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \langle r_i r_j + r_j r_i \rangle - \bar{r}_i \bar{r}_j \,. \tag{12}$$

Note that the covariance matrix V is a real, symmetric, positive definite matrix.

If we use the amplitude basis z, we find the mean vector $\bar{\mu}$ and the covariance matrix σ :

$$\bar{\mu}_i = \langle z_i \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}} \left(W^{\dagger} \bar{r} \right)_i \,, \tag{13}$$

$$\sigma_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \langle z_i z_j^{\dagger} + z_j z_i^{\dagger} \rangle - \bar{\mu}_i \bar{\mu}_j^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\hbar} (\boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{W})_{ij} \,.$$
(14)

Compared with the real covariance matrix V, we denote the σ as the complex covariance matrix.

In the remainder of this paper we will write the phase space description of a Gaussian state as the pair (V, \bar{r}) or $(\sigma, \bar{\mu})$ depending on which basis we use. For example, the vacuum state $|0\rangle$, which satisfies $a_j|0\rangle = 0$, has a zero mean vector and covariance matrix $V = \frac{\hbar}{2} \mathbb{1}_2$ or $\sigma = \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_2$.

2.3 Gaussian transformations

Gaussian unitary transformations are those that map Gaussian states to Gaussian states [38], thus in the Schrödinger picture, an input Gaussian state ρ is mapped to an output Gaussian state

$$\rho \mapsto \rho' = U_G \rho U_G^{\dagger} \,. \tag{15}$$

Gaussian unitaries have as generators polynomials of at most degree 2 in the quadratures (or equivalently in the creation and annihilation operators).

In the Heisenberg picture a Gaussian unitary (parameterized by a $2M \times 2M$ matrix *S* and a real vector *d* with size 2M) transforms the quadrature operators as follows

$$\mathbf{r} \mapsto \mathbf{r}' = U_G^{\dagger} \mathbf{r} U_G = \mathbf{S} \mathbf{r} + \mathbf{d} \,. \tag{16}$$

Since r' is obtained from r by unitary conjugation, it must satisfy the canonical commutation relations in Eq. (7). This implies that the matrix S satisfies

$$S\Omega S^T = \Omega, \qquad (17)$$

that is, **S** must be an element of the (real) symplectic group, $S \in Sp(2M, \mathbb{R})$.

An *M*-mode Gaussian unitary generated by a second-degree polynomial in the quadratures can be decomposed into an *M*-mode displacement \mathcal{D}_d and an *M*-mode unitary generated by a strictly quadratic unitary that is responsible for the symplectic matrix appearing in Eq. (16) and thus we can write [39]

$$U_G = \mathcal{D}_d U(S), \tag{18}$$

where \mathcal{D}_d is the displacement operator, parametrized by a real vector d of size 2M. We can also express the *M*-mode displacement operator as the tensor product of the single-mode displacement operator, with a complex vector γ of size *M*. The relation between the vector d and γ can be derived from Eq. (4):

$$d = \sqrt{2\hbar} [\Re(\gamma), \Im(\gamma)].$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

The single-mode displacement operator is defined as

$$\mathcal{D}(\gamma) = \exp\left[\gamma a^{\dagger} - \gamma^* a\right].$$
⁽²⁰⁾

We will also give the definitions of other single-mode Gaussian unitaries, noting that the multimode version is just the tensor product extension of their single-mode version.

The single-mode rotation operator

$$\mathcal{R}(\phi) = \exp\left[i\phi a^{\dagger}a\right],\tag{21}$$

which has $d_{rot} = 0$ and

$$\mathbf{S}_{\rm rot} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\phi & -\sin\phi \\ \sin\phi & \cos\phi \end{bmatrix}.$$
(22)

The single-mode squeezing operator is defined as

$$\mathcal{S}(\zeta) = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}\zeta^* a^2 - \text{H.c.}\right],\tag{23}$$

where $\zeta = re^{i\delta}$, and it has $d_{sq} = 0$ and

$$\mathbf{S}_{\rm sq} = \mathbf{S}_{\rm rot}(\delta/2) \begin{bmatrix} e^{-r} & 0\\ 0 & e^r \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{\rm rot}(\delta/2)^T \,. \tag{24}$$

An *M*-mode interferometer with Hilbert space operator [34]

$$\mathcal{W}(J) = \exp\left[i\sum_{k,l=1}^{M} J_{k,l} a_{k}^{\dagger} a_{l}\right], \qquad (25)$$

which has $d_{intf} = 0$, and

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{\text{intf}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{N}(\boldsymbol{U}) & -\mathfrak{I}(\boldsymbol{U}) \\ \mathfrak{I}(\boldsymbol{U}) & \mathfrak{N}(\boldsymbol{U}) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (26)$$

where $U = \exp[iJ]$ is a unitary matrix (since $J = J^{\dagger}$).

Note that $S_{intf} \in Sp(2n, \mathbb{R}) \cap O(2n) \cong U(n)$ where $Sp(2n, \mathbb{R})$ is the symplectic group, O(2n) is the orthogonal group and U(n) is the unitary group (cf. Appendix B of Serafini [38]).

A particular instance of an interferometer is the one beamsplitter, parametrized in terms of transmission angle θ and a phase ϕ (the energy transmission is given by $\cos^2 \theta$). In this case we have

$$J = i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \theta e^{-i\phi} \\ -\theta e^{i\phi} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad U = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -e^{-i\phi}\sin\theta \\ e^{i\phi}\sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (27)

Note that our definition of interferometer immediately implies that $W(J)|0\rangle = |0\rangle$ without any ambiguity in the global phase of the state on the right hand side.

Gaussian unitaries transform the mean vector \bar{r} and the covariance matrix V of a Gaussian state as [2]:

$$(V,\bar{r}) \mapsto (V',\bar{r}') = (SVS^T, S\bar{r} + d).$$
(28)

A deterministic Gaussian channel is the most general trace-preserving map between Gaussian states. It is characterized by two matrices X, Y and a vector d [38]. The action of the channel on a Gaussian state (V, \bar{r}) is

$$(V,\bar{r})\mapsto (XVX^T+Y,X\bar{r}+d), \qquad (29)$$

where the matrices X and Y need to satisfy

$$Y + i\frac{\hbar}{2}\Omega \ge i\frac{\hbar}{2}X\Omega X^{T}.$$
(30)

More generally, the action of a Gaussian channel on the characteristic function of an arbitrary state amounts to

$$\chi(s) \mapsto \chi'(s) = \chi(\Omega^T X^T \Omega s) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}s^T \Omega^T Y \Omega s - id^T \Omega s\right).$$
(31)

Note that unitary channels such as Eq. (28) are special cases of a Gaussian channels where $Y = 0_{2M}$ and X is symplectic. More generally, when X is not symplectic and thus the channel is not unitary, the matrix Y represents added noise in the state.

Examples of single-mode Gaussian channels are the pure loss channel (defined in Eq.(5.77) in the book [38]) by energy transmission $0 \le \eta \le 1$, which has

$$X = \sqrt{\eta} \mathbb{1}_2, \quad Y = \frac{\pi}{2} (1 - \eta) \mathbb{1}_2, \quad d = 0,$$
 (32)

and the amplification channel (defined in Eq.(5.87) in the book [38]) with energy gain $g \ge 1$, which has

$$X = \sqrt{g} \mathbb{1}_2, \quad Y = \frac{\hbar}{2} (g - 1) \mathbb{1}_2, \quad d = 0.$$
 (33)

An example of a multi-mode Gaussian channel is the lossy interferometer parametrized in terms of a transmission matrix T with singular values bounded from above by 1. For this channel, we find

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{N}(T) & -\mathfrak{I}(T) \\ \mathfrak{I}(T) & \mathfrak{N}(T) \end{bmatrix},$$
(34)

$$\mathbf{Y} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(\mathbb{1}_{2M} - \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}^T \right), \tag{35}$$

$$d = 0. \tag{36}$$

Note that in the case where *T* is unitary, then *X* is symplectic and orthogonal, and thus $Y = 0_{2M}$ recovering the results from the previous subsection.

3 One recurrence relation to rule them all

We can write M-mode pure states, mixed states, unitaries, and channels in the Fock space representation as

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{k} \psi_{k} |k\rangle, \qquad (37)$$

$$\rho = \sum_{i,k} \rho_{j,k} |j\rangle \langle k|, \qquad (38)$$

$$U = \sum_{j,k} U_{j,k} |j\rangle \langle k|, \qquad (39)$$

$$\Phi[|j\rangle\langle l|] = \sum_{i,k} \Phi_{k,l,i,j} |i\rangle\langle k|, \qquad (40)$$

where the Fock space indices are expressed as a multi-index $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, k_2, ..., k_M)$. We now simplify the notation by considering the collections of amplitudes ψ_k , $\rho_{j,k}$, $U_{j,k}$ and $\Phi_{i,j,k,l}$ as instances of a tensor \mathcal{G}_k where \mathbf{k} is *M*-dimensional for pure states, 2*M*-dimensional for mixed states and unitary transformations, and 4*M*-dimensional for channels.

One way to produce the Fock space amplitudes of a Gaussian object is to start from a generating function $\Gamma(\alpha)$ and then compute its derivatives. The generating function $\Gamma(\alpha)$ is also known as the stellar function [40] or the Bargmann function [21]. To obtain the generating function, one needs to contract each index of a Gaussian object with a *rescaled* multi-mode coherent state

$$e^{\frac{1}{2}||\boldsymbol{\alpha}||^2}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle,\tag{41}$$

where ||.|| denotes the vector 2-norm. For example, for a pure state, we have

$$\Gamma_{\psi}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = e^{\frac{1}{2}||\boldsymbol{\alpha}||^2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* | \boldsymbol{k} \rangle = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\boldsymbol{k}}}{\sqrt{\boldsymbol{k}!}}$$
(42)

$$= c_{\psi} \exp\left(\boldsymbol{a}^{T} \boldsymbol{b}_{\psi} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{a}^{T} \boldsymbol{A}_{\psi} \boldsymbol{a}\right), \qquad (43)$$

where A_{ψ} is an $M \times M$ complex symmetric matrix, b_{ψ} is an *M*-dimensional complex vector and c_{ψ} is the vacuum amplitude.

In the case of density matrices, we obtain an analogous exponential as in (42), except that A_{ρ} and b_{ρ} are of size $2M \times 2M$ and 2M respectively. For unitaries, A_U and b_U are of size $2M \times 2M$ and 2M, and for channels A_{Φ} and b_{Φ} are of size $4M \times 4M$ and 4M, respectively. Therefore, all Gaussian objects are characterized by a complex symmetric matrix A, a complex vector b and a complex scalar $c = \mathcal{G}_0$, or conversely given valid A and b and c we can calculate the coefficients \mathcal{G}_k by computing derivatives of the appropriate order of the generating function $\Gamma(\alpha)$:

$$\mathcal{G}_{k} = \mathcal{G}_{0} \frac{\partial_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^{k}}{\sqrt{k!}} \exp\left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T} \boldsymbol{b} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T} \boldsymbol{A} \boldsymbol{\alpha}\right) \bigg|_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}=0}.$$
(44)

In this way we unify the calculation of the Fock space amplitudes of Gaussian objects into a single method that works in all cases, depending on which triple (A, b, c) one is considering.

In practice (as we will do in the following sections), it is sufficient to apply this method to the case of mixed states only, as the expressions split naturally thanks to the properties of the Hermite polynomials (see Eq. (61) to (65)), and one obtains the case of Gaussian pure states. For transformations, using the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality [41, 42] can treat channels as mixed states, and if a channel is unitary, the expressions split in the same way as they do for states (see Eq. (93) to (97)), and one obtains the case of Gaussian unitaries already treated in Ref. [35].

Multivariate derivatives of the exponential of a function can be computed with a linear recurrence formula [35], and in the case the function is a polynomial of degree D, the recurrence relation has order D. In our case, the polynomial has degree 2, which means we can write a linear recurrence relation of order 2 between the Fock space amplitudes:

$$\mathcal{G}_{k+1_i} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k_i + 1}} \left(b_i \mathcal{G}_k + \sum_j \sqrt{k_j} A_{ij} \mathcal{G}_{k-1_j} \right),\tag{45}$$

with the vacuum amplitude initialized as $\mathcal{G}_0 = c$. In this recurrence relation, $\mathbf{k} + 1_i$ is the vector \mathbf{k} with the *i*-th element increased by 1 (and similarly for $\mathbf{k} - 1_j$, where it is decreased by 1). We refer to $w = \sum_i k_i$ as the weight of the index. In essence, the recurrence relation allows us to write amplitudes of weight w + 1 as linear combinations of amplitudes of weight w and w - 1. By applying it repeatedly, one can reach any Fock space amplitude (in practice, one eventually reaches a numerical precision horizon [43]).

3.1 Multidimensional Hermite polynomials

For reference, we recall the definition of the multidimensional Hermite polynomials as the Taylor series of a multidimensional Gaussian function, which has an additional factor of $\frac{1}{\sqrt{k!}}$ with respect to the Fock amplitudes:

$$K^{A}(\boldsymbol{y},\boldsymbol{b}) = \exp\left(\boldsymbol{y}^{T}\boldsymbol{b} + \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{y}^{T}\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{y}\right) = \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{G_{k}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b})}{k!} \boldsymbol{y}^{k}.$$
 (46)

Note the sign of the quadratic term in the exponential, which can differ from other conventions. In the last equation $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{C}^{\ell}$ is a complex vector, $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}^T \in \mathbb{C}^{\ell \times \ell}$ is a complex symmetric matrix and $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\ell}$ is a vector of non-negative integers. This notation makes it explicit that

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y_i}\right)^{k_i}\right] K^{\boldsymbol{A}}(\boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{b}) \bigg|_{\boldsymbol{y}=\boldsymbol{0}} = G_{\boldsymbol{k}}^{\boldsymbol{A}}(\boldsymbol{b}).$$
(47)

These polynomials satisfy the recurrence relation

$$G_{k+1_{i}}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}) = b_{i}G_{k}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}) + \sum_{j=1}^{M} k_{j}A_{i,j}G_{k-1_{j}}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}), \qquad (48)$$

where 1_i is a vector that has a 1 in the *i*-th entry and 0s elsewhere. Note that $G_0^A(b) = 1$, $G_{1_i}^A(b) = b_i$ and that $G_{1_i+1_j}^A(b) = b_i b_j + A_{ij}$. The multidimensional Hermite polynomial is related to the loop-hafnian function introduced in Ref. [44] which counts the number of perfect matchings of weighted graphs, including self-loops. They are related as follows

$$G_k^A(b) = \text{lhaf}(\text{fdiag}(A_k, b_k)), \tag{49}$$

where fdiag fills the diagonal of the matrix in the first argument using the vector in the second argument. Note that A_k is the matrix obtained from A by repeating its *i*-th row and column k_i times. Similarly, b_k is the vector obtained from b by repeating its *i*-th entry k_i times. Note that when $k_i = 0$ the relevant row and column of A and entry of b are deleted. The best known methods to calculate the single loop-hafnian in Eq. (49) requires $O(C^3 \sqrt{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} (1+k_i)})$ steps where C is the number of nonzero entries in the vector k [45].

We will show below that the Fock representation of a pure Gaussian state, a mixed Gaussian state, a Gaussian unitary, or a Gaussian channel can all be written as

$$c \times \frac{G_k^A(b)}{\sqrt{k!}},\tag{50}$$

where *c* is a scalar, *b* is a vector of dimension ℓ , *A* is a square matrix of size $\ell \times \ell$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\ell}$. The integer ℓ equals M, 2M, 2M, 4M for pure states, mixed states, unitaries or channels on *M* modes respectively.

Note that the quantity in Eq. (50) is potentially the ratio of two large numbers. In particular, since this quantity represents a probability or a probability amplitude it should be bounded in absolute value by 1. Thus it is often convenient, especially for numerical purposes, to introduce renormalized multidimensional Hermite polynomials as

$$\mathcal{G}_{k}^{A}(b) = c \times \frac{G_{k}^{A}(b)}{\sqrt{k!}}, \qquad (51)$$

which satisfy the recurrence relation in Eq. (45).

Using results from Ref. [22] we can also find the differential of the matrix elements:

$$d\mathcal{G}_{k}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}) = \frac{[dc]}{c} \mathcal{G}_{k}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}) + \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} [db_{i}] \sqrt{k_{i}} \mathcal{G}_{k-1_{i}}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{\ell} [dA_{i,j}] \sqrt{k_{i}(k_{j} - \delta_{ij})} \mathcal{G}_{k-1_{i}-1_{j}}^{A}(\boldsymbol{b}).$$
(52)

We can use this relation to write a new differential formula for the loop-hafnian with arbitrary repetitions that generalize the results in Ref. [46]

$$d [lhaf(fdiag(A_{k}, b_{k}))] = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} [db_{i}]k_{i} lhaf(fdiag(A_{k-1_{i}}, b_{k-1_{i}}))$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{\ell} [dA_{i,j}]k_{i}(k_{i} - \delta_{ij}) lhaf(fdiag(A_{k-1_{i}-1_{j}}, b_{k-1_{i}-1_{j}})).$$
(53)

Note that in the limit of no loops b = 0 and no repetitions $k_i \in \{0, 1\}$ the last equation reproduces precisely Eq. (A12) of Ref. [46]. We note that one can obtain significant savings in traversing the recursions relations of these quantities by carefully exploiting symmetries [47].

3.2 States

In this subsection, we show how to turn the symplectic representation of a Gaussian state into the metaplectic or Fock space representation of the same object [21]. This follows the developments in Refs. [10–13, 32, 33].

To compute the Fock space amplitudes of a Gaussian pure state we need the triple $(A_{\psi}, b_{\psi}, c_{\psi})$ where A_{ψ} and b_{ψ} are *M*-dimensional. If the state is mixed, we need the triple $(A_{\rho}, b_{\rho}, c_{\rho})$ where A_{ρ} and b_{ρ} are 2*M*-dimensional. We are now going to show how to obtain these triples.

It is convenient to introduce the *s*-parametrized complex covariance matrix

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s} = \boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{s}{2} \mathbb{1}_{2M} \,, \tag{54}$$

by definition $\sigma_0 \equiv \sigma$ and moreover we use the shorthand notation $\sigma_{\pm} \equiv \sigma_{\pm 1}$.

We recall the results derived in Ref. [12]. An expression for the metaplectic representation of the Gaussian state is

$$\langle \boldsymbol{m} | \boldsymbol{\rho} | \boldsymbol{n} \rangle = c_{\boldsymbol{\rho}} \times \prod_{s=1}^{M} \frac{\partial_{\alpha_{s}}^{n_{s}} \partial_{\alpha_{s}}^{m_{s}}}{\sqrt{n_{s}!m_{s}!}} \exp\left[\frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{y}^{T} \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{\rho}} \boldsymbol{y} + \boldsymbol{y}^{T} \boldsymbol{b}_{\boldsymbol{\rho}}\right],$$
(55)

where, relative to Eq. (47), we identified $y = \begin{bmatrix} a \\ a^* \end{bmatrix}$, $k = n \oplus m$, $\ell = 2M$ and used the results from Refs. [10, 33, 48] to write together with the definitions in Eqs. (13) and (14)

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\rho} = \boldsymbol{P}_{M} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{1}_{2M} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \end{bmatrix} = \boldsymbol{P}_{M} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{-} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} = \boldsymbol{P}_{M} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{-},$$
(56)

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\rho} = \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\mu}}\right)^{*} = \boldsymbol{P}_{M} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\mu}}, \tag{57}$$

$$c_{\rho} = \langle \mathbf{0} | \rho | \mathbf{0} \rangle = \frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\bar{\mu}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \bar{\mu}\right]}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+})}},$$
(58)

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{M} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{M} & 1_{M} \\ 1_{M} & 0_{M} \end{bmatrix},$$
(59)

to finally write

$$\langle \boldsymbol{m} | \boldsymbol{\rho} | \boldsymbol{n} \rangle = c_{\boldsymbol{\rho}} \times \frac{G_{\boldsymbol{n} \oplus \boldsymbol{m}}^{\boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{\rho}}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\boldsymbol{\rho}})}{\sqrt{\boldsymbol{n} ! \boldsymbol{m} !}}.$$
(60)

The map $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \mapsto \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{-}$ in Eq. (56) is the Cayley transform [49,50]. In the case where $\rho = |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$ is a pure state it is easy to show that

$$A_{\rho} = A_{\psi}^* \oplus A_{\psi} \,, \tag{61}$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\rho} = \boldsymbol{b}_{\psi}^* \oplus \boldsymbol{b}_{\psi} \,, \tag{62}$$

and then

$$G_{n\oplus m}^{A_{\rho}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\rho}) = G_{n\oplus m}^{A_{\psi}^{*}\oplus A_{\psi}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\psi}^{*}\oplus \boldsymbol{b}_{\psi})$$
(63)

$$=G_n^{A_{\psi}^*}(b_{\psi}^*) \times G_m^{A_{\psi}}(b_{\psi})$$
(64)

$$= [G_n^{A_{\psi}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\psi})]^* \times G_m^{A_{\psi}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\psi}), \qquad (65)$$

which allows us to write the probability amplitude of a pure state

$$\langle \boldsymbol{m} | \Psi \rangle = c_{\psi} \frac{G_{\boldsymbol{m}}^{A_{\psi}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\psi})}{\sqrt{\boldsymbol{m}!}}, \quad c_{\psi} = e^{i\varphi_{\Psi}} \sqrt{c_{\rho}}, \qquad (66)$$

up to a global phase φ_{Ψ} that cannot be determined from the covariance matrix and vector of means of the pure Gaussian state. This will be discussed in a later section. Note that the last equation can be used to write the Hilbert-space ket representing the state as [11]

$$|\Psi\rangle = c_{\psi} \exp\left[\sum_{i=1}^{M} (b_{\psi})_{i} a_{i}^{\dagger} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{M} (A_{\psi})_{i,j} a_{i}^{\dagger} a_{j}^{\dagger}\right] |\mathbf{0}\rangle, \qquad (67)$$

thus showing that this formalism reduces to the one introduced by Krenn et al. in Refs. [51–54] when the displacements are zero. Moreover, the Gaussian formulation allows us to easily include the most common form of decoherence for bosonic modes, namely loss, since this process is a Gaussian channel.



We now give a few examples. A displaced squeezed state $\mathcal{D}(\alpha)\mathcal{S}(re^{i\phi})|0\rangle$ (which is the most general pure single-mode Gaussian state) has

$$A_{\psi} = -\tanh(r)e^{i\phi}, \qquad (68)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\psi} = \boldsymbol{\alpha} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* e^{i\phi} \tanh r \,, \tag{69}$$

$$c_{\psi} = \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left[|\alpha|^2 + \alpha^{*2}e^{i\phi}\tanh r\right]\right)}{\sqrt{\cosh r}},\tag{70}$$

and its amplitudes in the Fock basis satisfy

$$\psi_{k+1}^{\mathrm{dsq}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k+1}} \Big([\alpha + \alpha^* e^{i\phi} \tanh r] \psi_k^{\mathrm{dsq}} - \sqrt{k} \tanh(r) e^{i\phi} \psi_{k-1}^{\mathrm{dsq}} \Big).$$
(71)

In the limit of no squeezing, $r \rightarrow 0$ we obtain coherent states with recursion relation

$$\psi_{k+1}^{\rm coh} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k+1}} \alpha \,\psi_k^{\rm coh} \,. \tag{72}$$

Similarly, in the limit of no displacement, $\alpha \rightarrow 0$ we obtain the recursion relation for squeezed vacuum states

$$\psi_{k+1}^{\rm sq} = -\sqrt{\frac{k}{k+1}} \tanh(r) e^{i\phi} \psi_{k-1}^{\rm sq}.$$
(73)

Note that, as expected, this recurrence relation skips odd indices.

For the simple case of M-mode squeezed states with real squeezing parameters r_i sent into

an interferometer with unitary U we have that $A_{\psi} = -U \left[\bigoplus_{i=1}^{M} \tanh r_i \right] U^T$. The thermal state is given by $A_{\rho} = \frac{\bar{n}}{\bar{n}+1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, b_{\rho} = 0$ and $c_{\rho} = \frac{1}{1+\bar{n}}$, where \bar{n} is the average photon number, giving rise to the recurrence relations:

$$\rho_{k_1+1,k_2}^{\text{th}} = \sqrt{\frac{k_2}{k_1+1}} \frac{\bar{n}}{\bar{n}+1} \rho_{k_1,k_2-1}^{\text{th}}, \qquad (74)$$

$$\rho_{k_1,k_2+1}^{\text{th}} = \sqrt{\frac{k_1}{k_2+1}} \frac{\bar{n}}{\bar{n}+1} \rho_{k_1-1,k_2}^{\text{th}}.$$
(75)

For a squeezed state along the q-quadrature with r > 0 (the symplectic matrix S can be found in Eq. (24)) that undergoes loss by transmission η (defined in Eq. (32)), we start from the vacuum state with $V = \frac{\hbar}{2}\mathbb{1}$, we apply the squeezing operator $V' = SVS^T$, we make the state pass through the lossy channel $V'' = XV'X^T + Y$, and we obtain its covariance matrix $\sigma = \frac{1}{\hbar} W^{\dagger} V'' W$. Then it is easy to find A_{ρ} from Eq. (56) that

$$A_{\rho} = \frac{\eta}{\coth^2 r - (\eta - 1)^2} \begin{bmatrix} -\coth r & 1 - \eta \\ 1 - \eta & -\coth r \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (76)

In the limit of no loss we find $A_{\rho} = -[\tanh r \oplus \tanh r]$ while in the limit of zero transmission we retrieve the single-mode vacuum, $A_{\rho} = 0_2$.

Transformations 3.3

We can lift the description of states in the previous section to describe transformations via the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality in phase space, which allows us to faithfully map a channel by applying it over one-half of a full-rank entangled state. A Gaussian channel $\Phi[\cdot]$ is uniquely

determined by the triple X, Y, d and acts on a Gaussian state as $(V, \bar{r}) \mapsto (XVX^T + Y, X\bar{r} + d)$. We can then write (see Appendix B and Appendix C for details)

$$\langle i|(\Phi[|j\rangle\langle l|])|k\rangle = c_{\Phi} \times \frac{G_{k\oplus l\oplus i\oplus j}^{A_{\Phi}}(b_{\Phi})}{\sqrt{i!j!k!l!}},$$
(77)

where

$$A_{\Phi} = P_{2M} R \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \xi^{-1} X \\ X^T \xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^T \xi^{-1} X \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger},$$
(78)

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}} \boldsymbol{R}^* \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \boldsymbol{d} \\ -\boldsymbol{X}^T \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \boldsymbol{d} \end{bmatrix}, \tag{79}$$

$$c_{\Phi} = \frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\hbar}\boldsymbol{d}^{T}\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{d}\right]}{\sqrt{\det(\boldsymbol{\xi})}},\tag{80}$$

and

$$\mathbf{R} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{I}_{M} & i\mathbb{I}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0 & \mathbb{I}_{M} & -i\mathbb{I}_{M} \\ \mathbb{I}_{M} & -i\mathbb{I}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{I}_{M} & i\mathbb{I}_{M} \end{bmatrix},$$
(81)

$$\boldsymbol{\xi} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1}_{2M} + \boldsymbol{X} \boldsymbol{X}^{T} + \frac{2\boldsymbol{Y}}{\hbar} \right).$$
(82)

For example, for a single-mode amplifier channel with gain $g \ge 1$, we find

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} & \frac{g-1}{g} & 0\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{g-1}{g} & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{c}_{\Phi} = 1/g.$$
(83)

For the case of the M-mode lossy interferometer with transmission matrix T we find

$$A_{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{M} & T^{*} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ T^{\dagger} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} - T^{\dagger}T \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & T \\ 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} - T^{T}T^{*} & T^{T} & 0_{M} \end{bmatrix},$$
(84)

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{0}, \tag{85}$$

$$c_{\Phi} = 1. \tag{86}$$

This identity allows us to find the probability of measuring an outcome photon number pattern $\mathbf{j} = (j_1, \dots, j_M)$ when the multimode Fock state $|\mathbf{i}\rangle = |i_1\rangle \otimes \dots \otimes |i_M\rangle$ is sent into a lossy interferometer with transmission matrix \mathbf{T} (cf. Appendix E)

$$\langle \boldsymbol{j} | \Phi_T [| \boldsymbol{i} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{i} |] | \boldsymbol{j} \rangle = \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{i} | \boldsymbol{j} |} \operatorname{perm} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M - T^{\dagger} T & T^{\dagger} \\ T & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{\boldsymbol{j} \oplus \boldsymbol{i}} \right), \tag{87}$$

where perm is the permanent. The last equation reduces to the well-known lossless [55–57] case when $\mathbb{1}_M - T^{\dagger}T = 0$. Finally, note that we can obtain the single-mode pure loss channel by energy transmission η by setting $T = \sqrt{\eta}$ in Eq. (84) to obtain

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sqrt{\eta} & 0 & 0 \\ \sqrt{\eta} & 0 & 0 & 1 - \eta \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\eta} \\ 0 & 1 - \eta & \sqrt{\eta} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (88)

This substitution illustrates an elegant property of our formalism, namely that Gaussian dual channels are related to each other by permuting even and odd blocks of rows and columns as can be seen by comparing Eq. (88) and Eq. (83) showing that indeed pure loss and amplification are duals of each other.

Our formalism can also handle non-trace-preserving maps. For example we can express the Fock damping channel as

$$\Phi[\rho] = e^{-\beta a^{\dagger} a} \rho e^{-\beta a^{\dagger} a}, \qquad (89)$$

which has

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi} = e^{-\beta} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{c}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{1}.$$
(90)

Note that the Fock damping operator $e^{-\beta a^{\dagger}a}$ itself has triple:

$$\boldsymbol{A} = e^{-\beta} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{b} = \boldsymbol{0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{c} = 1.$$
(91)

In the case where the channel is unitary, we can write $\Phi[\cdot] = U\{\cdot\}U^{\dagger}$ and then we obtain

$$\langle \mathbf{i} | (\Phi[|\mathbf{j}\rangle\langle \mathbf{l}|]) | \mathbf{k} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{i} | U | \mathbf{j} \rangle \langle \mathbf{l} | U^{\mathsf{T}} | \mathbf{k} \rangle.$$
(92)

This corresponds to the case where $Y = 0_{2M}$ and X = S is symplectic. As we show in the Appendix D, we can then write

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{A}_{U}^{*} \oplus \boldsymbol{A}_{U}, \qquad (93)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{b}_{U}^{*} \oplus \boldsymbol{b}_{U}, \qquad (94)$$

and then we have

$$\langle i|(\Phi[|j\rangle\langle l|])|k\rangle = \frac{G_{k\oplus l\oplus i\oplus j}^{A_U^*\oplus A_U}(b_U^*\oplus b_U)}{\sqrt{i!i!k!l!}}$$
(95)

$$=\frac{G_{k\oplus l}^{A_{U}^{*}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{U}^{*})}{\sqrt{k!l!}}\times\frac{G_{i\oplus j}^{A_{U}}(\boldsymbol{b}_{U})}{\sqrt{i!j!}}$$
(96)

$$=\frac{\left[G_{k\oplus l}^{A_U}(\boldsymbol{b}_U)\right]^*}{\sqrt{k!l!}}\times\frac{G_{i\oplus j}^{A_U}(\boldsymbol{b}_U)}{\sqrt{i!j!}}\,.$$
(97)

Comparing Eq. (92) and the last equation we easily identify

$$\langle \boldsymbol{i}|U|\boldsymbol{j}\rangle = c_U \frac{G_{\boldsymbol{i}\oplus\boldsymbol{j}}^{A_U}(\boldsymbol{b}_U)}{\sqrt{\boldsymbol{i}|\boldsymbol{j}|}}, \qquad c_U = \sqrt{c_\Phi} e^{\boldsymbol{i}\varphi_U}, \qquad (98)$$

where φ_U is a phase that will be discussed in the next section. Note that the quantities c_U , b_U and A_U correspond to the $C, \mu, -\Sigma$ introduced in Eq. (26) of Ref. [22]. This comparison also allows us to conclude that A_U is not only symmetric but also unitary (this can also be seen by inspecting the form of A_U in Eq. (D.10) in the Appendix D).

Table 1: We derive the triple A, b, c for the channel. We also generalize the results for transformations in Refs. [22,34] and those for pure states in Refs. [11,32] and mixed states in Refs. [10, 12, 33]. Moreover, we show the relation of the triple between channel and transformation, as well as between mixed state and pure state.

Object	Α			b		с	Refs.	
Channel Φ	$P_{2M}R$	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \\ \boldsymbol{X}^T \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \end{array} $	$\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X}$ $\boldsymbol{\mathbb{1}}_{2M} - \boldsymbol{X}^T\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X}$	R [†]	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}R^*$	$\begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1}d \\ -X^T\xi^{-1}d \end{bmatrix}$	$\frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\hbar}d^{T}\xi^{-1}d\right]}{\sqrt{\det(\xi)}}$	This work
Transformation U	$A_{\Phi} = A_U^* \oplus A_U$			$oldsymbol{b}_{\Phi}=oldsymbol{b}_{U}^{*}\oplusoldsymbol{b}_{U}$		$c_{\Phi} = c_U^* c_U$	[22, 34]	
Mixed state $ ho$	$\boldsymbol{P}_{M}(\mathbb{1}_{2M}-\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1})$			$P_M \sigma_+^{-1} ar \mu$		$\frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\bar{\mu}^{\dagger}\sigma_{+}^{-1}\bar{\mu}\right]}{\sqrt{\det(\sigma_{+})}}$	[10, 12, 33]	
Pure state ψ	$oldsymbol{A}_ ho=oldsymbol{A}_\psi^*\oplusoldsymbol{A}_\psi$			$oldsymbol{b}_ ho=oldsymbol{b}_\psi^*\oplusoldsymbol{b}_\psi$		$c_ ho=c_\psi^*c_\psi$	[11,32]	

4 Global phase of the Fock representation

In the Gaussian representation, transformations are specified by a symplectic matrix and a displacement vector. However, these two quantities do not uniquely specify the evolution of a quantum state. For example, when two displacement operators with parameters d_1 and d_2 are composed in the Gaussian representation, their effect is just another displacement with parameter $d = d_1 + d_2$. However, the unitary representation acquires a global phase:

$$\mathcal{D}(\alpha)\mathcal{D}(\beta) = e^{(\alpha\beta^* - \alpha^*\beta)/2}\mathcal{D}(\alpha + \beta), \qquad (99)$$

i.e. we do not only add up both displacement parameters $\mathcal{D}(\alpha + \beta)$ here, but also get an extra part $e^{(\alpha\beta^*-\alpha^*\beta)/2}$, which is a *global phase*. Such a global phase is important when evolving linear combinations of Gaussian states with Gaussian operations [36]. This section will compute this global phase and provide some examples.

We know that the Fock representation of an arbitrary Gaussian unitary transformation is parametrized by the triple $(\mathbf{A}_U, \mathbf{b}_U, c_U)$. The unitary representation of the combination of two Gaussian transformations $\mathcal{U}_f = \mathcal{U}_1 \mathcal{U}_2$ may have an additional global phase and we are going to find it.

We begin by calculating the Husimi $Q(\beta, \beta')$ function of the composition of U_1 and U_2 and we use a resolution of the identity in terms of coherent states to write:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 I \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle \tag{100}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{M}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{M}} d^{2M} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^{*} | \mathcal{U}_{1} | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} | \mathcal{U}_{2} | \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \rangle, \qquad (101)$$

where we can replace the Husimi Q functions for generic Gaussian transformations $\langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle$ and $\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} | \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle$. After integrating $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$, the Q function of the composite operator \mathcal{G}_f is obtained, which is characterized by:

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{U_f} = \boldsymbol{B}_1 \oplus \boldsymbol{D}_2 + \left\{ \boldsymbol{C}_1 \oplus \boldsymbol{C}_2^T \right\} \mathcal{Z} \left\{ \boldsymbol{C}_1^T \oplus \boldsymbol{C}_2 \right\}, \qquad (102)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{U_{f}}^{T} = [\boldsymbol{c}_{1}^{T}, \boldsymbol{d}_{2}^{T}] + [\boldsymbol{d}_{1}^{T}, \boldsymbol{c}_{2}^{T}] \mathcal{Z} \left\{ \boldsymbol{C}_{1}^{T} \oplus \boldsymbol{C}_{2} \right\}, \qquad (103)$$

$$c_{U_f} = \frac{c_{U_1} c_{U_2}}{\sqrt{\det(\mathcal{Y})}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} [\boldsymbol{d}_1^T, \boldsymbol{c}_2^T] \mathcal{Z} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{d}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{c}_2 \end{bmatrix}\right), \tag{104}$$

where $\boldsymbol{b}_{U_i}^T$ and \boldsymbol{A}_{U_i} are written in block form:

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{U_i}^T = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}_i^T, \boldsymbol{d}_i^T \end{bmatrix}, \tag{105}$$

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{U_i} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{B}_i & \boldsymbol{C}_i \\ \hline \boldsymbol{C}_i^T & \boldsymbol{D}_i \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (106)$$

and we introduce the auxiliary quantities:

$$\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{1}_M - \boldsymbol{D}_1 \boldsymbol{B}_2, \tag{107}$$

$$\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z}^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} -\boldsymbol{D}_{1} & \boldsymbol{1}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{1}_{M} & -\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{Y}^{-1}\boldsymbol{B}_{2} & \mathcal{Y}^{-1} \\ [\mathcal{Y}^{T}]^{-1} & \boldsymbol{D}_{1}\mathcal{Y}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (108)

Eq. (104) gives the global phase for the composite Gaussian operator. The details of this calculation can be found in Appendix F.

As examples, we show the composition of two single-mode displacements and the composition of two single-mode squeezers. Recall that they correspond to

$$\mathcal{D}(\alpha): \mathbf{A}_{U} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{b}_{U} = [\alpha, -\alpha^{*}]^{T}, \qquad c_{U} = e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\alpha|^{2}}, \qquad (109)$$

$$S(re^{i\delta}): \mathbf{A}_{U} = \begin{pmatrix} -e^{i\delta} \tanh r & \operatorname{sech} r \\ \operatorname{sech} r & e^{-i\delta} \tanh r \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbf{b}_{U} = [0,0], \qquad c_{U} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\cosh r}}.$$
(110)

For a composition of displacement operators $\mathcal{D}(\alpha)\mathcal{D}(\beta)$, we have

$$\det(\mathbb{1}_M - \boldsymbol{D}_1 \boldsymbol{B}_2) = 1, \quad \mathcal{Y} = 1.$$
(111)

We then obtain the global phase:

$$c_{U_f} = c_{U_\alpha} c_{U_\beta} \exp\left(-\alpha^* \beta\right) = c_{U_{(\alpha+\beta)}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\alpha\beta^* - \frac{1}{2}\beta\alpha^*\right), \qquad (112)$$

recovering Eq. (99).

For two squeezers $S(\zeta_1), S(\zeta_2)$, since \boldsymbol{b}_U is zero, we have

$$\det(\mathbb{1}_M - D_1 B_2) = 1 + e^{i(\delta_2 - \delta_1)} \tanh r_1 \tanh r_2, \qquad (113)$$

and in turn, we get

$$c_{U_f} = \frac{c_{U_1} c_{U_2}}{\sqrt{\det(\mathbb{1}_M - D_1 B_2)}}$$
(114)

$$=\frac{\sqrt{\operatorname{sech} r_1 \operatorname{sech} r_2}}{\sqrt{1+e^{i(\delta_2-\delta_1)} \tanh r_1 \tanh r_2}},$$
(115)

which coincides with the results from Refs [58, 59].

Finally, note that when composing two passive Gaussian unitaries we already know that there is no extra phase since by construction (cf. Eq. (25)) $\langle n|\mathcal{W}(J)|0\rangle = \delta_{n,0}$.

5 Learning Gaussian states and transformations

Differentiability is a desirable property for a computational model, as it enables gradient descent optimization. Suppose one can write a cost function *L* in terms of an independent variable (or collection of variables) θ , then the idea of gradient descent is to update the independent variable by taking an optimization step on the opposite of the gradient ∂L repeatedly thus converging to a local minimum of the cost function.

Normally, we optimize each fundamental Gaussian operator inside the circuit, such as the displacement, the squeezers and etc. However, with the increasing number of modes, we obtain a more complicated circuit and the update of each variable becomes heavy work. That is why we propose the idea to optimize a *single* Gaussian object (which can be decomposed into the fundamental Gaussian operators).

All Gaussian objects can be updated in a learning step on the symplectic group, on the displacement parameters, or on the symplectic eigenvalues. As the latter two are Euclidean updates, we will not describe them in great detail. In fact, once the relevant Euclidean gradient has been computed, the update rule can be taken as a single step of gradient descent or one of its variants (e.g. using momentum). For instance, the update of the displacement parameter could simply follow the rule

$$\boldsymbol{d} \leftarrow \boldsymbol{d} - t \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{d}},\tag{116}$$

using the Euclidean gradient and *t* is the learning rate.

We will concentrate then on detailing the update on the symplectic group S, which is endowed in the Riemannian manifold. This section summarizes the basic ideas of gradient descent on Riemannian manifolds, particularly on the manifold of symplectic matrices and unitary matrices. In the end, we comment on this global Gaussian operator optimization idea.

Note that in the first four subsections below, the symbols A, B, M, p, R, W, X, Y, Z, γ are defined locally and do not correspond to previous uses.

5.1 The symplectic group

We describe the manifold of real symplectic $2n \times 2n$ matrices as an embedded sub-manifold of $\mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$:

$$\operatorname{Sp}(2n,\mathbb{R}) = \{ \boldsymbol{S} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n} | \boldsymbol{S} \boldsymbol{\Omega} \boldsymbol{S}^{T} = \boldsymbol{\Omega} \},$$
(117)

where Ω is defined in Eq.(8). Given that the condition $S\Omega S^T = \Omega$ is quadratic in S, the manifold of symplectic matrices is not a linear subspace of $\mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$, which means that we likely *leave* the manifold after a naive straight step of gradient descent. In this section, we explain how to overcome this difficulty.

Note that unless details are relevant, we abbreviate $Sp(2n, \mathbb{R})$ with Sp.

5.2 Tangent and normal spaces

If we differentiate the quadratic condition $S\Omega S^T = \Omega$ we obtain the *linear* tangency condition $X\Omega S^T + S\Omega X^T = 0$. All the matrices *X* that satisfy the new condition form a linear subspace of $\mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$ called the tangent space of Sp at the point *S*:

$$T_{\mathbf{S}} \mathrm{Sp} = \{ \mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n} | \mathbf{X} \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{S}^{T} + \mathbf{S} \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{X}^{T} = \mathbf{0}_{2n} \}$$
(118)

$$= \{ S\Omega A | A = A^T \}.$$
(119)

Eq. (119) is a compact way of parametrizing the tangent space at *S* using symmetric matrices. It can be found by imposing $X = S\Omega A$ in the tangency condition.

As a special case, the Lie algebra of Sp is the tangent space at the identity, i.e.

$$sp(2n,\mathbb{R}) = T_e Sp(2n,\mathbb{R})$$
(120)

$$= \{ \mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n} | \mathbf{X} \mathbf{\Omega} + \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{X}^T = \mathbf{0}_{2n} \}$$
(121)

$$= \{ \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{A} | \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}^T \} \,. \tag{122}$$

We can then define the normal space at *S* as the linear space containing all the elements that are orthogonal to T_S Sp:

$$N_{s}\mathrm{Sp} = \{ \boldsymbol{W} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n} | \mathrm{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}^{T}\boldsymbol{X}) = \boldsymbol{0}_{2n}, \boldsymbol{X} \in T_{s}\mathrm{Sp} \}$$
(123)

$$= \{ \Omega SB | B = -B^T \}, \qquad (124)$$

with Eq. (124) showing that we can parametrize the normal space at each point in Sp using anti-symmetric matrices.

5.3 Riemannian metric on Sp(2n)

A Riemannian manifold such as $\text{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{R})$ comes equipped with an inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_S$ on the tangent space T_S Sp at each point $S \in$ Sp. The family of inner products forms the Riemannian metric tensor. The inner product in T_S Sp is defined as

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_{S} = \langle S^{-1}X, S^{-1}Y \rangle = \langle RX, Y \rangle,$$
 (125)

where $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S}^{-T}\mathbf{S}^{-1} = \mathbf{\Omega}\mathbf{S}\mathbf{S}^{T}\mathbf{\Omega}^{T}$ and note that $\mathbf{R}^{-1} = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{S}^{T}$.

Consider now a cost function $L : Sp \to \mathbb{R}$. The Euclidean gradient ∂L at the point S (which is computed using the embedding coordinates in $\mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$) is related to the Riemannian gradient $\nabla L \in T_S$ Sp by the compatibility condition

$$\langle \nabla L, X \rangle_{S} = \langle \partial L, X \rangle, \quad \forall X \in T_{S} \text{Sp.}$$
 (126)

After rearranging the terms, the condition is equivalent to

$$\langle \mathbf{R}\nabla L - \partial L, \mathbf{X} \rangle = 0, \quad \forall \mathbf{X} \in T_{\mathbf{S}} \mathrm{Sp}.$$
 (127)

This means that $\mathbf{R}\nabla L - \partial L \in N_S$ Sp and therefore, it must be possible to write

$$R\nabla L - \partial L = \Omega SB, \qquad (128)$$

for some anti-symmetric matrix **B**. At the same time we have the tangency condition $\nabla L \Omega S^T + S \Omega \nabla^T L = 0$. If we replace ∇L from Eq. (128) into the tangency condition, we obtain an expression for **B** and we can finally write the Riemannian gradient on the symplectic group:

$$\nabla L = \frac{s}{2} (\mathbf{Z} + \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{Z}^T \mathbf{\Omega}), \qquad (129)$$

where $\mathbf{Z} = \mathbf{S}^T \partial L$.

The symplectic matrix that describes an interferometer belongs to the intersection of the orthogonal group O(2n) and the symplectic group Sp(2n), which is a unitary group U(n):

$$\mathbf{U}(n) = \{ \boldsymbol{M} \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n} | \boldsymbol{M}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{M} = \boldsymbol{M} \boldsymbol{M}^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}_{n} \}.$$
(130)

We can go through the same arguments as with the symplectic group and obtain the Riemannian gradient in the unitary group (More calculation details are in Appendix G):

$$\nabla L = \frac{M}{2} \left(Z - Z^{\dagger} \right), \tag{131}$$

where $Z = M^{\dagger} \partial L$.

5.4 Geodesic optimization on Sp(2n) and U(n)

The shortest curve connecting two points on a Riemannian manifold \mathcal{M} is called a geodesic, and it can be defined by the starting point $\gamma(0) = p$ and its velocity on the tangent space at that point: $V = \dot{\gamma}(0) \in T_p \mathcal{M}$. For the symplectic and unitary groups, geodesics take the following form (which can be found by minimizing a variational formulation of the path length between two points [60, 61]):

$$\gamma^{\text{Sp}(2n)}(t) = \mathbf{S}e^{t(\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{V})^{T}}e^{t[\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{V}-(\mathbf{S}^{-1}\mathbf{V})^{T}]},$$
(132)

$$\gamma^{\mathrm{U}(n)}e(t) = \boldsymbol{M}e^{t(\boldsymbol{M}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{V})^{T}}.$$
(133)

By using a geodesic, we guarantee that each update step remains on the manifold.

For gradient descent, we use $V = -\nabla L$:

$$\gamma^{\text{Sp}(2n)}(t) = \mathbf{S}e^{-t\mathbf{Y}}e^{-t(\mathbf{Y}-\mathbf{Y}^{T})},$$
(134)

with $Y = S^{-1} \nabla L = \frac{1}{2} (Z + \Omega Z^T \Omega)$. For the unitary group, we obtain

$$\gamma^{\mathrm{U}(n)}(t) = \boldsymbol{M}\boldsymbol{e}^{-t\boldsymbol{Y}},\tag{135}$$

with $Y = M^{\dagger} \nabla L = \frac{1}{2} (Z - Z^{\dagger}) = \frac{1}{2} (M^{\dagger} \partial L - (\partial L)^{\dagger} M)$. We now have a geodesic update formula that we can apply in place of the usual gradient descent step. The parameter *t* takes the role of the learning rate (which we fix depending on the application). For the symplectic group, we have

$$\mathbf{Z}_k \leftarrow \mathbf{S}_k^T \partial L, \tag{136}$$

$$\boldsymbol{Y}_{k} \leftarrow \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{Z}_{k} + \boldsymbol{\Omega} \boldsymbol{Z}_{k}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Omega}), \qquad (137)$$

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{k+1} \leftarrow \boldsymbol{S}_k e^{-t\boldsymbol{Y}_k} e^{-t(\boldsymbol{Y}_k - \boldsymbol{Y}_k^T)}.$$
(138)

For the unitary group, we have

$$Z_k \leftarrow M_k^{\dagger} \partial L \,, \tag{139}$$

$$Y_k \leftarrow \frac{1}{2} (Z_k - Z_k^{\dagger}), \qquad (140)$$

$$\boldsymbol{M}_{k+1} \leftarrow \boldsymbol{M}_k e^{-t\boldsymbol{Y}_k} \,. \tag{141}$$

Finally, we obtain the orthogonal matrix of the interferometer using Eq. (34).

5.5 The Riemannian update step in practice

We concentrate now on detailing the update on the symplectic group and we will take Gaussian unitaries as a basic example (pure states, mixed states, and channels can have a symplectic matrix among their parameters, via the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality).

The backpropagation procedure of the gradient calculation is shown in Fig. 1. The Euclidean gradient of the symplectic matrix can be calculated via the chain rule:

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial s} = 2\Re \left[\sum_{X=A,b,c} \sum_{k} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathcal{G}_{k}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}_{k}}{\partial X} \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}_{k}}{\partial s} \right].$$
(142)

In this expression, $\frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathcal{G}_k}$ is the upstream gradient which can be obtained from an Automatic Differentiation (AD) framework such as TensorFlow, $\frac{\partial \mathcal{G}_k}{\partial X}$ is computed by differentiating the



Figure 1: The detailed forward and backward passes. The Riemannian gradient ∇L for the geodesic update is calculated via the chain rule and Eq. (129), which backpropagates the gradient of the cost function with respect to the Fock amplitudes $\frac{\partial L}{\partial G_k}$ all the way to ∇L , while the gradient $\frac{\partial L}{\partial d}$ is used directly to optimize d on \mathbb{R}^{2n} . The backpropagation steps can be left to an Automatic Differentiation framework, except for the Fock to Bargmann step and the conversion between Euclidean and Riemannian gradient, which we implement ourselves.

recurrence relation in Eq. (45) and $\frac{\partial X}{\partial S}$ is also handled by the AD framework, and it depends on the functional relation between the symplectic matrix and *X* denotes the triple (*A*, *b*, *c*) we defined in section 3.

Then, we can write the update rule for the real symplectic matrix S to follow a geodesic path starting at S with a velocity ∇L defined by its Riemannian gradient and guarantee the updated matrix is still on Sp(2*n*).

5.6 Discussion

Our *single* Gaussian object optimization idea, using Riemannian gradient descent, has several advantages compared with the optimization of each circuit component separately, which we call Euclidean optimization.

Firstly, the optimization of the circuit before any decomposition in terms of gates with Euclidean parameters can be considered as the first advantage of our method, which can be useful for answering theoretical questions involving an extremization over the entire class of Gaussian states or transformations.

Secondly, our method gives more accurate results than optimizing each component separately in the Fock representation. This is because to obtain the Fock representation of the complete circuit one first needs to compute the Fock amplitudes of the circuit elements up to a cutoff for each of the elements and then multiply them all together. The inaccuracy of each element in the Fock amplitudes will come from the truncation of Fock space and will accumu-



Figure 2: Schematic of the connectivity of the 216-mode circuit of the photonic processor Borealis [64], where all the nearest neighbour modes are connected by beam splitters, then all pairs at distance 6 and finally all pairs at distance 36. The arrows represent beam splitters.

late by contracting each of them. However, our Riemannian optimization keeps them together as a single Gaussian object (which is equivalent to contracting them in an infinite-dimensional Fock space).

Last but not least, the Riemannian optimization runs faster and can converge in fewer steps than the Euclidean optimization. In Appendix I, we show that by choosing the same learning rate of three different methods, the Riemannian optimization converges much faster than Euclidean optimization in the task of preparing a cat state. Also, some interesting optimization questions are raised along with the results.

6 Numerical experiments

In this section, we showcase the optimization methods introduced in the previous sections with three examples. The recurrent methods presented here are implemented in the open-source library TheWalrus [62] and they are integrated with the optimization methods in the open-source library MrMustard [1].

6.1 Minimizing the sparsity of the adjacency matrix of high-dimensional Gaussian boson sampling instance

We first analyze high-dimensional Gaussian Boson Sampling (GBS) [63] instances similar to the 216-mode circuit of the photonic processor Borealis [64]. This is made possible by working in phase space, as all the components are Gaussian and the cost function involves the *A* matrix of the output state (i.e. not its Fock amplitudes). In a *D*-dimensional high-dimensional GBS instance with $M = d^D$ modes, a set of $K \le M$ squeezed modes are sent into an interferometer composed of layers of beamsplitter gates (with a local rotation gate in the first mode) between modes *i* and $i + \tau$ with $\tau \in \{1, d, d^2, ..., d^{D-1}\}$ as shown schematically for d = 6 and D = 3 in Fig. 2.

One desirable property of any GBS instance is that its adjacency matrix, which corresponds to A_{ψ} in our notation, should not have any special property like being banded, sparse, or low-rank. This is because these types of properties can be exploited to speed-up the classical simulation of GBS.





(a) The absolute value of the original matrix A.

(b) The absolute value of the matrix **A** after optimization.



(c) Histogram of the absolute values of *A* matrix elements before and after optimization.Figure 3: Maximizing the entanglement in Borealis.



(a) Two-mode Gaussian transformation with PNR on the last mode.



(b) Three-mode Gaussian transformation, followed by three displacements and photon number projections on the last two modes.

Figure 4: Circuits optimized in the examples.

For high-dimensional GBS instances like the one implemented in Borealis, it is known that the A_{ψ} is full-rank (since every input is squeezed) and not banded (due to the long-ranged gates). However, one needs to judiciously choose the parameters of the beamsplitter so that the distribution of its entries is not heavily dominated by just a few of them. For example, if the one chooses the rotation gates and the transmission angles of the beamsplitters to be uniformly random in $\left[-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$ one obtains the distribution shown in blue bars in Fig. 3c and the A_{ψ} matrix show in Fig. 3a. For these results and following Ref. [64] we fix the phase angle of the beamsplitter to be $\pi/2$, we set the input squeezing parameter in all the modes to be $r = \arcsin 1 \approx 0.8813736$ and take D = 3, d = 6 and thus a total of $M = 6^3 = 216$ modes. Note that the values of the matrix are heavily concentrated, i.e., for each row and column a few values are overwhelmingly larger than the rest.

We can now use the methods we developed to try to spread-out as much as possible the entries of the matrix A_{ψ} thus we optimize the cost function

$$\min \sum_{ij} (|\mathbf{A}_{\psi}|_{ij}^2 - \max |\mathbf{A}_{\psi}|^2)^2.$$
(143)

We perform this optimization obtaining the distribution shown with the orange bars in Fig. 3c and the matrix shown in Fig. 3b. Notice that now the values are more evenly distributed.

6.2 State preparation

In this section, we find explicit circuits that prepare cat states and cubic phase states. For the cat state preparation we optimize a 2-mode Gaussian state with 3 photons measured in its last mode. For the cubic phase state preparation we optimize a 3-mode Gaussian state with 16 and 16 photons measured in its last two modes.

6.2.1 Cat state

The cat state that we target is the superposition of two coherent states:

$$|\operatorname{cat}_{\pm}\rangle = \frac{|\alpha\rangle \pm |-\alpha\rangle}{\sqrt{2 \pm 2e^{-2|\alpha|^2}}},$$
(144)

where $|\alpha\rangle = D(\alpha)|0\rangle$ is a coherent state. In the last equation the plus and minus signs corresponds to even and odd cat states, respectively.

For this example, we will target the generation of an odd cat state with $\alpha = 2$ and will employ the symplectic optimizer in MrMustard (version 0.5.0).

The first circuit (shown in Fig. 4a) consists of a Gaussian transformation followed by a measurement of 3 photons on the second mode and generates the (approximate) cat state in

the first mode. We use the symplectic optimizer to train the Gaussian gate. The result is shown in Fig. 5a with a fidelity of 99.37% and 7.47% success probability.

The code snippet below corresponds to the circuit shown in Fig. 4a:

```
import numpy as np
from mrmustard.lab import *
from mrmustard.physics import fidelity, normalize
from mrmustard.training import Optimizer
from mrmustard import settings
alpha = 2.0 # coherent state amplitude
cutoff = 100 # fock space cutoff
cat_amps = (Coherent(alpha).ket([cutoff])
           - Coherent(-alpha).ket([cutoff]))
cat_target = normalize(State(ket=cat_amps))
# randomly initialized 2-mode trainable Gaussian state
settings.SEED = 7
gaussian = Gaussian(num_modes=2,
                    symplectic_trainable=True,
                    cutoffs=[cutoff, 4])
def output():
   return gaussian << Fock(3, modes=[1])</pre>
def cost_fn():
   fid = fidelity(normalize(output()), cat_target)
    if fid > 0.99:
        prob = output().probability
       return 1 - fid - prob
    else:
        return 1 - fid
opt = Optimizer(symplectic_lr = 0.2)
opt.minimize(cost_fn, by_optimizing=[gaussian],
             max_steps=150)
```

This cost function includes the probability of the state when the fidelity is above 99%.

It should be observed that the Fock space cutoff selected for this optimization (100) was quite large. However, the choice was deliberately made to demonstrate the speed of our method: the cat state optimization took approximately three seconds to complete on an M1 MacBook Air using MrMustard version 0.5.0.

6.2.2 Cubic phase state

The ideal cubic phase state is given by the cubic phase gate applied to a momentum squeezed vacuum state $V(\gamma) = e^{i\frac{\gamma}{3\hbar}x^3}|0\rangle_p$, which has infinite energy. We target the finite-energy version $e^{i\frac{\gamma}{3\hbar}x^3}S(r)|0\rangle$ for $\gamma = 0.3\hbar$ and r = -1:

$$|\text{cubic}\rangle = e^{\frac{1}{10}ix^3} e^{\frac{1}{2}(a^{\dagger^2} - a^2)} |0\rangle.$$
 (145)



(a) The cat state obtained with the circuit in Fig. 4a. Fidelity=99.37%, success prob 7.47%.

(b) The target cat state.

Figure 5: Optimized cat state and the target state.

This target state is shown in Fig. 6b. We follow a different optimization strategy than the one we followed for the cat state. Specifically, even though we target the measurement of 16,16 photons in the last two modes, we find it is beneficial to optimize lower photon number measurements first and work our way up to the target measurement (16,16 in this case), re-optimizing the 3-mode Gaussian state for each step. We find a solution with 99.00% fidelity and probability = 0.06%, which we report in the Appendix.

The symplectic matrix of the 3-mode Gaussian transformation and the displacements are reported here below. Note that at this stage, as we didn't commit to a specific circuit design, but rather we optimized the Gaussian symplectic matrix, we still have a relative amount of flexibility in realizing this Gaussian transformation in the way that is most convenient given some constraints (e.g. the order of the gates that the hardware allows for).

7 Extensions to linear combinations of Gaussians

While the set of Gaussian states is rather restrictive, many non-Gaussian states of interest, such as cat states, Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill (GKP) states [65], or Fock states, can be exactly or approximately expanded as linear combinations of Gaussians in phase space [36, 66]. This representation has the nice property that any Gaussian channel can act on these states directly in phase space, i.e., without requiring to write their Fock representation explicitly. Because of linearity, we can simply obtain the Fock representation of any states expressible as a linear combination of Gaussians by obtaining the Fock representation of each Gaussian component. This argument is equally valid for pure and mixed states. For the case of pure states, it is important to correctly account for the global phase as described in the previous sections. This phase will be important for states for which the coefficients c_{ψ} have non-trivial dependence on the displacement and squeezing that describes each individual component, as it is apparent in squeezed-comb states defined as [67]

$$|0_{\text{Comb}}\rangle = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{\text{Comb}}} \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\psi_n\rangle, \quad |\psi_n\rangle = \mathcal{D}(\bar{q}_n)\mathcal{S}(r)|0\rangle, \qquad (146)$$



(a) The cubic phase state obtained with the circuit in Fig. 4b. Fidelity=99%, success prob 0.06%.

(b) The target cubic phase state.

Figure 6: Optimized cubic phase state and the target state.

where recall $\mathcal{D}(\cdot)$ and $\mathcal{S}(\cdot)$ are the single-mode displacement and squeezing operator defined in Sec. 2.3, $q_n = -(N+1)(d/2) + nd$. Note that squeezed-comb states have as limit both cat states (when the squeezing parameters are zero and N = 2) and GKP states (when r > 0 and N is large). Note that each element in the linear combination will have a non-trivial phase that appears in a linear superposition and thus cannot be factored out as a global phase, making clear the relevance of the results in Sec. 4.

Consider now the density matrix associated with the state above

$$\rho_{0_{\text{Comb}}} = |0_{\text{Comb}}\rangle \langle 0_{\text{Comb}}| \tag{147}$$

$$=\sum_{n=1}^{N}|\psi_{n}\rangle\langle\psi_{n}|+\sum_{n=1}^{N}\sum_{m=1,m\neq n}^{N}|\psi_{n}\rangle\langle\psi_{m}|.$$
(148)

On the one hand, the "diagonal" terms $|\psi_n\rangle\langle\psi_n|$ correspond to positive semi-definite operators with Gaussian characteristic functions. On the other hand, the "off-diagonal" terms $|\psi_n\rangle\langle\psi_m|$ do not represent positive semi-definite operators but they still have complex-Gaussian characteristic functions as shown in Appendix A of Ref. [36]. This implies that the recursion relations derived in this manuscript still hold for each term in the equation above. Finally, note that certain non-Gaussian operations can also be described in terms of linear combinations of Gaussian. The Kerr gate

$$K(\kappa) = \exp\left[i\kappa a^{\dagger}a^{\dagger}aa\right], \qquad (149)$$

with parameter $\kappa = \pi/m$ can be expanded as a linear combination of rotation gates [68]. Thus the methods we developed, including the global phase will be important when composing this gate with other Gaussian operators with non-trivial phase terms *c* so as to achieve universality.

8 Conclusion

In this work we have presented a linear recurrence relation that connects the phase space and the Fock space representations of Gaussian pure and mixed states, as well as Gaussian unitary and non-unitary transformations. While working with Gaussian gates within the phase space representation is easily achieved using symplectic algebra, it is valuable to implement fast numerical simulations in Fock representation, in order to include non-Gaussian effects. Moreover, the recurrence relation is exact and differentiable, which enables accurate gradient computations and gradient-based optimization.

Since the covariance matrix of Gaussian objects is parametrized by symplectic matrices that live in a Riemannian manifold, a geodesic-based optimization method is proposed in this paper. We show some optimization examples using the open-source library MrMustard, where we implemented our methods. In particular, we optimized the adjacency matrix of a high-dimensional Gaussian Boson Sampling instance with 216 modes directly in phase space to highlight the Euclidean optimization functionality of our library.

We then obtained new circuits to generate mesoscopic cat states with unprecedented success probability. On the theory side, we also showed how to keep track of the global phase induced by Gaussian unitary transformations. This paves the way to simulate and optimize non-Gaussian objects by writing them as linear combinations of Gaussians [36]. Dealing with non-Gaussian simulation and optimization is a significant challenge in the optical information processing community [12, 69]. Our methods offer a promising avenue to address this challenge.

Acknowledgments

N.Q. thanks R. Chadwick and T. Kalajdzievski for valuable discussions.

Funding information N.Q. thanks the Ministère de l'Économie et de l'Innovation du Québec and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada for financial support.

A Review of the symplectic formalism

The real symplectic group is defined as

$$\operatorname{Sp}(2n,\mathbb{R}) = \{ \mathbf{S} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n} | \mathbf{S} \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{S}^T = \mathbf{\Omega} \}, \qquad (A.1)$$

where Ω is defined in Eq. (8).

Some properties of this group:

$$\Omega \in \operatorname{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{R}), \tag{A.2}$$

$$\mathbf{\Omega}^{-1} = \mathbf{\Omega}^T = -\mathbf{\Omega} \in \operatorname{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{R}), \qquad (A.3)$$

$$S^{-1} = -\Omega S^T \Omega \in \operatorname{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{R}).$$
(A.4)

A real symplectic matrix S can be decomposed as

$$\boldsymbol{S} = \boldsymbol{O}_1 \boldsymbol{\Lambda} \boldsymbol{O}_2, \qquad (A.5)$$

with $O_1, O_2 \in C(n)$ and

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \boldsymbol{\Lambda} \oplus \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{-1} \,, \tag{A.6}$$

with $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n)$ and $\lambda_j \ge 1, \forall j \in [1, \dots, n]$. C(n) denotes the compact subgroup and $C(n) = \text{Sp}_{2n,\mathbb{R}} \cap O(2n)$. It means that any symplectic matrix can be decomposed into a diagonal and positive semi-definite matrix Λ with two orthogonal groups O_1 and O_2 , which stands for the passive transformation (interferometer).



Figure 7: 2*M*-mode circuit for implementing the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality. Φ is the channel that is applied on the first half *M* modes and the two dots represent a two-mode squeezing operator connecting two modes: one comes from the first *M* modes and the other one comes from the second *M* modes.

B Choi-Jamiołkowski duality

In this section, we employ the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality [38,41,42] to reduce the calculation of the matrix elements of an arbitrary Gaussian channel in M to the calculation of the matrix element of a Gaussian state with 2M. We first consider a collection of systems with arbitrary, but identical, dimensionality N.

We write the state right before the channel Φ is applied to the first half of the modes in Fig. 7 as

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sqrt{\mathcal{N}} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \tau^n |n\rangle \otimes |n\rangle, \qquad (B.1)$$

where $\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \equiv \sum_{n_1=0}^{N-1} \dots \sum_{n_M=0}^{N-1}$, \mathcal{N} is a normalization constant to be determined in a moment and τ is the squeezing parameter of the two-mode squeezing operator connecting the first Mmodes and the second M modes. The density matrix of the state $|\Psi\rangle$ is simply

$$|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi| = \mathcal{N}\sum_{m=0}^{N-1}\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \tau^{n+m} |n\rangle\langle m| \otimes |n\rangle\langle m|.$$
(B.2)

We can now write the output of the circuit after the application of the channel Φ as

$$\varrho = (\Phi \otimes \mathbb{I})[|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|] = \mathcal{N} \sum_{m=0}^{N-1} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \tau^{n+m} \Phi[|n\rangle\langle m|] \otimes |n\rangle\langle m|.$$
(B.3)

We can premultiply the equation above by $\langle i | \otimes \langle j |$ and postmultiply by $|k\rangle \otimes |l\rangle$ to obtain

$$(\langle i|\otimes\langle j|)\varrho(|k\rangle\otimes|l\rangle) = \mathcal{N} \tau^{j+l}\langle i|(\Phi[|j\rangle\langle l|])|k\rangle.$$
(B.4)

In finite-dimensional systems it is convenient to pick $\tau = (1, ..., 1)$ and the normalization \mathcal{N} is simply given by the dimensionality of the system N^M . For infinite dimensional systems, if one were to try to pick the same normalization as for a finite-dimensional, one would obtain a non-normalizable state $|\Psi\rangle$. Thus it is convenient to pick $\tau = (\tau, ..., \tau)$ with $\tau = \tanh t < 1$ and then

$$\mathcal{N} = (1 - \tau^2)^M = (1 - \tanh^2 t)^M, \qquad (B.5)$$

$$\tau^{l+j} = (\tanh t)^{\sum_{i=1}^{M} l_i + j_i}.$$
(B.6)

For a rigorous justification of this derivation see sec 5.5 of Serafini [38]. Now consider the case where the channel Φ is Gaussian parametrized by

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{X}_{qq} & \boldsymbol{X}_{qp} \\ \boldsymbol{X}_{pq} & \boldsymbol{X}_{pp} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{Y}_{qq} & \boldsymbol{Y}_{qp} \\ \boldsymbol{Y}_{pq} & \boldsymbol{Y}_{pp} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{d} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{d}_{q} \\ \boldsymbol{d}_{p} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(B.7)

Then the output state is also Gaussian since the input state to the channel is nothing but onehalf of a two-mode squeezed state. In this case, we can write the quadrature covariance matrix and vector of means of the output state as

$$\boldsymbol{V} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}\mathcal{T}(t) \left(\frac{\hbar}{2} \mathbb{1}_{4M}\right) \mathcal{T}(t)^{T} \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}^{T} + \tilde{\boldsymbol{Y}} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}\mathcal{T}(2t) \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}^{T} + \tilde{\boldsymbol{Y}}, \qquad \bar{\boldsymbol{r}} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{d}_{q} \\ \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{d}_{p} \\ \boldsymbol{0} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (B.8)$$

where

$$\tilde{X} = \begin{bmatrix} X_{qq} & 0_M & X_{qp} & 0_M \\ 0_M & \mathbb{1}_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ X_{pq} & 0_M & X_{pp} & 0_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & 0_M & \mathbb{1}_M \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tilde{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} Y_{qq} & 0_M & Y_{qp} & 0_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ Y_{pq} & 0_M & Y_{pp} & 0_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ \sinht \mathbb{1}_M & \cosh t \mathbb{1}_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ \sinht \mathbb{1}_M & \cosh t \mathbb{1}_M & 0_M & 0_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & \cosh t \mathbb{1}_M & -\sinh t \mathbb{1}_M \\ 0_M & 0_M & -\sinh t \mathbb{1}_M & \cosh t \mathbb{1}_M \end{bmatrix}, \quad (B.10)$$

and we used the fact that $\mathcal{T}(t)\mathcal{T}(t)^T = \mathcal{T}(t)\mathcal{T}(t) = \mathcal{T}(2t)$.

In the next appendix, we show that we can associate with the 2M-Gaussian Choi-Jamiołkowski state the following quantities

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\varrho} = \boldsymbol{E}(t)\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi}\boldsymbol{E}(t), \tag{B.11}$$

$$A_{\Phi} = P_{2M}R \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \xi^{-1}X \\ X^{T}\xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^{T}\xi^{-1}X \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}$$
(B.12)

$$= \mathbf{P}_{2M} \mathbf{R} \left(\mathbb{1}_{4M} - \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1} & -\xi^{-1} \mathbf{X} \\ -\mathbf{X}^T \xi^{-1} & \mathbf{X}^T \xi^{-1} \mathbf{X} \end{bmatrix} \right) \mathbf{R}^{\dagger}, \qquad (B.13)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\varrho} = \boldsymbol{E}(t)\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi}, \tag{B.14}$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}} \boldsymbol{R}^* \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \boldsymbol{d} \\ -\boldsymbol{X}^T \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} \boldsymbol{d} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (B.15)$$

$$c_{\varrho} = (1 - \tanh^2 t)^M c_{\Phi}, \qquad (B.16)$$

$$c_{\Phi} = \frac{\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\hbar}d^{T}\xi^{-1}d\right]}{\sqrt{\det(\xi)}},\tag{B.17}$$

where $E(t) = \mathbb{1}_M \oplus (\tanh t \mathbb{1}_M) \oplus \mathbb{1}_M \oplus (\tanh t \mathbb{1}_M), P_M = \begin{bmatrix} 0_M & \mathbb{1}_M \\ \mathbb{1}_M & 0_M \end{bmatrix}$ and

$$R = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{M} & i\mathbb{1}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0 & \mathbb{1}_{M} & -i\mathbb{1}_{M} \\ \mathbb{1}_{M} & -i\mathbb{1}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} & i\mathbb{1}_{M} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \xi = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1}_{2M} + XX^{T} + \frac{2Y}{\hbar} \right).$$
(B.18)

Note that ξ is nothing but the *qp*-Husimi covariance matrix (in units where $\hbar = 1$) of the state obtained by sending the *M* mode vacuum state in the process specified by *X* and *Y*. Note that in general, given a covariance matrix *V* one can always construct (a non-unique) channel that when applied to the vacuum produces the state with covariance matrix *V*. To this end recall that the Williamson decompositions states that any valid quantum covariance matrix can be written as $V = S(V_{\text{vac}} + V_{\text{noise}})S^T$ with *S* symplectic, V_{vac} is the covariance matrix of the vacuum and V_{noise} positive semidefinite. The channel with X = SO and $Y = SV_{\text{noise}}S^T$ with *O* symplectic and orthogonal but otherwise arbitrary prepares the sought after state when applied on vacuum.

With these results we can write

$$(\langle i|\otimes\langle j|)\varrho(|k\rangle\otimes|l\rangle) = c_{\varrho} \times \frac{G_{k\oplus l\oplus i\oplus j}^{A_{\rho}}(b_{\varrho})}{\sqrt{i!j!k!l!}}.$$
(B.19)

Now we recall a fundamental property that multidimensional Hermite polynomials inherit from loop-hafnians [44], namely that if $E = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} E_i$ is a diagonal matrix then

$$G_n^{EAE}(Eb) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} E_i^{n_i}\right) G_n^A(b).$$
 (B.20)

We can use the definitions from Eq. (B.11) to Eq. (B.17) together with the Eq. (B.4) and the relation Eq. (B.19) to find

$$\langle i | (\Phi[|j\rangle\langle l|]) | k \rangle = \frac{(\langle i | \otimes \langle j | \rangle_{\mathcal{Q}} (|k\rangle \otimes | l \rangle)}{\mathcal{N} \tau^{j+l}} = \frac{c_{\varrho}}{\mathcal{N} \tau^{j+l}} \times \frac{G_{k \oplus l \oplus i \oplus j}^{A_{\rho}}(b_{\varrho})}{\sqrt{i!j!k!l!}} = c_{\Phi} \times \frac{G_{k \oplus l \oplus i \oplus j}^{A_{\Phi}}(b_{\Phi})}{\sqrt{i!j!k!l!}}, \quad (B.21)$$

which allows us to find the matrix elements of the channel without any reference to the specific amount of squeezing used to create the two-mode squeezed vacuum.

C Description of the Choi-Jamiołkowski duality in phase-space

The (complex) covariance matrix σ of the Gaussian state obtained by sending *M* halves of *M* two-mode squeezed vacuum states through the channel Φ is given by

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{W} \left(\frac{1}{2} \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}} \mathcal{T}(2t) \tilde{\boldsymbol{X}}^T + \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{Y}}}{\hbar} \right) \boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger} \,. \tag{C.1}$$

Note that $(\mathcal{T}(t))^T = \mathcal{T}(t)$ is symmetric, \tilde{X} is symplectic if $X = \begin{bmatrix} X_{qq} & X_{qp} \\ X_{pq} & X_{pp} \end{bmatrix}$ is symplectic and W is unitary. Let

$$\mathbf{Q}' = \left(\frac{\mathbbm{1}_{4M}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{X}\mathcal{T}(2t)\tilde{X}^T + \frac{\tilde{Y}}{\hbar}\right),\tag{C.2}$$

then $(\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{\mathbb{I}_{4M}}{2})^{-1} = \boldsymbol{W}(\boldsymbol{Q}')^{-1}\boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger}$. Now we define

$$\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{L}\mathbf{Q}'\mathbf{L}^T, \tag{C.3}$$

with

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (C.4)

Then we have that $\mathbf{Q}^{-1} = \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{Q}')^{-1}\mathbf{L}^T$, which implies that $\mathbf{L}^T\mathbf{Q}^{-1}\mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{Q}')^{-1}$. So calculating \mathbf{Q}^{-1} gives $(\mathbf{Q}')^{-1}$ and therefore $(\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{\mathbb{I}_{4M}}{2})^{-1}$.

Expressing Q as a block matrix $Q = \begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{bmatrix}$, we can write Q^{-1} using Schur complements

as [38]

$$Q^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1} & -\xi^{-1}BD^{-1} \\ -D^{-1}C\xi^{-1} & D^{-1} + D^{-1}C\xi^{-1}BD^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (C.5)

where $\xi = A - BD^{-1}C$. The blocks *A*, *B*, *C*, and *D*, are given by

$$A = \frac{Y}{\hbar} + \frac{\mathbb{1}_{2M}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\cosh(2t)XX^{T}, \qquad (C.6)$$

$$\boldsymbol{B} = \frac{1}{2} \sinh 2t \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{X}_{qq} & -\boldsymbol{X}_{qp} \\ \boldsymbol{X}_{pq} & -\boldsymbol{X}_{pp} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \sinh 2t \boldsymbol{X} \boldsymbol{Z}, \qquad (C.7)$$

$$\boldsymbol{C} = \frac{1}{2} \sinh 2t \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{X}_{qq}^T & \boldsymbol{X}_{pq}^T \\ -\boldsymbol{X}_{qp}^T & -\boldsymbol{X}_{pp}^T \end{bmatrix} = \boldsymbol{B}^T = \frac{1}{2} \sinh 2t \boldsymbol{Z} \boldsymbol{X}^T, \quad (C.8)$$

$$\boldsymbol{D} = \cosh^2(t) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M & \mathbb{0}_M \\ \mathbb{0}_M & \mathbb{1}_M \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (C.9)$$

where $Z = \begin{bmatrix} 1_M & 0_M \\ 0_M & -1_M \end{bmatrix}$. We now use these to calculate the blocks of Q^{-1} starting with ξ ,

$$\boldsymbol{\xi} = \boldsymbol{A} - \boldsymbol{B}\boldsymbol{D}^{-1}\boldsymbol{C} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1}_{2M} + \boldsymbol{X}\boldsymbol{X}^{T} + \frac{2\boldsymbol{Y}}{\hbar} \right) = \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}, \qquad (C.10)$$

which turns out to be *independent* of t. Next, we find

$$-\xi^{-1}BD^{-1} = -\tanh(t)\xi^{-1}XZ, \qquad (C.11)$$

$$-D^{-1}C\xi^{-1} = -\tanh(t)ZX^{T}\xi^{-1}.$$
 (C.12)

Finally, the bottom right block, which can be simplified by substituting the other three blocks, is given by

$$D^{-1} + D^{-1}C\xi^{-1}BD^{-1} = (1 - \tanh^2(t))\mathbb{1}_{2M} + \tanh^2(t)ZX^T\xi^{-1}XZ$$
(C.13)

$$= \mathbb{1}_{2M} + \tanh^2(t) Z \left(X^T \xi^{-1} X - \mathbb{1}_{2M} \right) Z.$$
 (C.14)

Putting these blocks together, we get the expanded form of Q^{-1}

$$\mathbf{Q}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} & -\tanh(t)\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X}\boldsymbol{Z} \\ -\tanh(t)\boldsymbol{Z}\boldsymbol{X}^{T}\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} + \tanh^{2}(t)\boldsymbol{Z}\left(\boldsymbol{X}^{T}\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}\right)\boldsymbol{Z} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (C.15)

Now with the form of the inverse known, we can multiply by the remaining matrices to get the final form of $\sigma_{+}^{-1} = (\sigma + \frac{\mathbb{I}_{4M}}{2})^{-1} = WL^T Q^{-1} LW^{\dagger}$, with *L* as in Eq. (C.4) We can now go back and write the quantity of interest

$$\mathbb{1}_{4M} - \left(\sigma + \frac{\mathbb{1}_{4M}}{2}\right)^{-1} = WL^{T} \left(\mathbb{1}_{4M} - \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1} & -\tanh(t)\xi^{-1}XZ \\ -\tanh(t)ZX^{T}\xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} + \tanh^{2}(t)Z\left(X^{T}\xi^{-1}X - \mathbb{1}_{2M}\right)Z \end{bmatrix} \right) LW^{\dagger} \quad (C.16)$$
$$= WL^{T} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \tanh(t)\xi^{-1}XZ \\ \tanh(t)ZX^{T}\xi^{-1} & \tanh^{2}(t)Z\left[\mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^{T}\xi^{-1}X\right]Z \end{bmatrix} LW^{\dagger}. \quad (C.17)$$

Defining the matrix $F = \begin{bmatrix} 1_{2M} & 0_{2M} \\ 0_{2M} & z \tanh(t) \end{bmatrix}$, we can rewrite the last equation as

$$\mathbb{1}_{4M} - \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{\mathbb{1}_{4M}}{2}\right)^{-1} = \boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{L}^{T}\boldsymbol{F} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} & \boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X} \\ \boldsymbol{X}^{T}\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \boldsymbol{X}^{T}\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1}\boldsymbol{X} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{F}^{T}\boldsymbol{L}\boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger}$$
(C.18)

$$= E(t)R \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \xi^{-1}X \\ X^{T}\xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^{T}\xi^{-1}X \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}E(t), \quad (C.19)$$

where we noted that $WL^T F = WLF = E(t)R$ (cf. Eq. (B.18)). To arrive at the expression for A_{ρ} we simply note $[E(t), P_{2M}] = 0$.

We would also like to find

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\varrho} = \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{+}^{-1}\bar{\boldsymbol{\mu}}\right)^{*} = \left(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{L}\boldsymbol{Q}^{-1}\boldsymbol{L}\boldsymbol{W}^{\dagger}\left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}\boldsymbol{W}\bar{\boldsymbol{r}}\right]\right)^{*} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}\left(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{L}\boldsymbol{Q}^{-1}\boldsymbol{L}\bar{\boldsymbol{r}}\right)^{*} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{L})^{*}\boldsymbol{Q}^{-1}\begin{bmatrix}\boldsymbol{d}\\\boldsymbol{0}\end{bmatrix}$$
(C.20)

$$=\frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}(WL)^* \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1}d\\ -\tanh tZX^T\xi^{-1}d \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}(WLF)^* \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1}d\\ -X^T\xi^{-1}d \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hbar}}E(t)R^* \begin{bmatrix} \xi^{-1}d\\ -X^T\xi^{-1}d \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (C.21)

Finally, we can obtain

$$c_{\varrho} = (\langle \mathbf{0} | \otimes \langle \mathbf{0} |) \varrho (|\mathbf{0} \rangle \otimes |\mathbf{0} \rangle) = \mathcal{N} \langle \mathbf{0} | (\Phi[|\mathbf{0} \rangle \langle \mathbf{0} |]) |\mathbf{0} \rangle = \mathcal{N} c_{\Phi}.$$
(C.22)

The Husimi covariance matrix of the state $\Phi[|0\rangle\langle 0|]$ is simply $\hbar\xi$ and its vector of means is **d** and thus we can write

$$\langle \mathbf{0} | \left(\Phi \left[|\mathbf{0}\rangle \langle \mathbf{0} | \right] \right) | \mathbf{0} \rangle = \frac{\exp \left[-\frac{1}{2} d^T (\hbar \xi)^{-1} d \right]}{\sqrt{\det \left(\xi \right)}} \,. \tag{C.23}$$

Unitary processes D

Now consider a unitary process. In this case we know that Y = 0 and that $X = S \in Sp_{2M}$ where Sp_{2M} is the Symplectic group. Since S is symplectic, then we can write a symplectic

singular-value decomposition (also known as a Bloch-Messiah or Euler decomposition [70])

$$\boldsymbol{S} = \begin{bmatrix} \Re(\boldsymbol{U}_1) & -\Im(\boldsymbol{U}_1) \\ \Im(\boldsymbol{U}_1) & \Re(\boldsymbol{U}_1) \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} e^{-r} & \boldsymbol{0}_M \\ \boldsymbol{0}_M & e^r \end{bmatrix}}_{\equiv \boldsymbol{\lambda}} \begin{bmatrix} \Re(\boldsymbol{U}_2) & -\Im(\boldsymbol{U}_2) \\ \Im(\boldsymbol{U}_2) & \Re(\boldsymbol{U}_2) \end{bmatrix} = \boldsymbol{O}_1 \boldsymbol{\lambda} \boldsymbol{O}_2, \quad (D.1)$$

where U_1, U_2 are $M \times M$ unitaries and $r = \bigoplus_{i=1}^M r_i$ represents squeezing. We can now calculate the Schur complement to find

$$\boldsymbol{\xi} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1}_{2M} + \boldsymbol{S} \boldsymbol{S}^T \right), \qquad (D.2)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-1} = 2\boldsymbol{O}_1 \frac{\mathbb{I}_{2M}}{\mathbb{I}_{2M} + \boldsymbol{\lambda}^2} \boldsymbol{O}_1^T, \qquad (D.3)$$

and then we find

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \xi^{-1}X \\ X^{T}\xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^{T}\xi^{-1}X \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} O_{1}\frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}}O_{1}^{T} & O_{1}\frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}}O_{2} \\ O_{2}^{T}\frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}}O_{1}^{T} & -O_{2}^{T}\frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}}O_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.4)
$$= \begin{bmatrix} O_{1} & O_{2M} \\ O_{2M} & O_{2}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} & \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} \\ \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} & -\frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} O_{1}^{T} & O_{2M} \\ O_{2M} & O_{2}^{T} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(D.5)

Note that

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{\lambda}^2 - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\boldsymbol{\lambda}^2 + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} = \begin{bmatrix} -\tanh \boldsymbol{r} & \boldsymbol{0}_M \\ \boldsymbol{0}_M & \tanh \boldsymbol{r} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{2\boldsymbol{\lambda}}{\boldsymbol{\lambda}^2 + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} & \boldsymbol{0}_M \\ \boldsymbol{0}_M & \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(D.6)

We can now calculate

$$R \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - \xi^{-1} & \xi^{-1}X \\ X^{T}\xi^{-1} & \mathbb{1}_{2M} - X^{T}\xi^{-1}X \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}$$

$$= R \begin{bmatrix} O_{1} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & O_{2}^{T} \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}R \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} & \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} \\ \frac{2\lambda}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} & -\frac{\lambda^{2} - \mathbb{1}_{2M}}{\lambda^{2} + \mathbb{1}_{2M}} \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}R \begin{bmatrix} O_{1}^{T} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & O_{2} \end{bmatrix} R^{\dagger}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} U_{1} & O_{M} & O_{M} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & U_{2}^{T} & O_{M} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & U_{2}^{T} & O_{M} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & O_{M} & U_{1}^{*} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & O_{M} & U_{2}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} O_{M} & O_{M} & -\tanh r \ \operatorname{sech} r \ O_{M} & O_{M} \\ -\tanh r \ \operatorname{sech} r \ O_{M} & O_{M} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} U_{1} & O_{M} & O_{M} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & U_{2}^{T} & O_{M} & O_{M} \\ O_{M} & O_{M} & U_{2}^{*} \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger}$$

$$= -\begin{bmatrix} O_{M} & A_{U} \\ A_{U}^{*} & O_{M} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (D.9)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{U} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{U}_{1} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tanh \boldsymbol{r} & -\operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \\ -\operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} & -\tanh \boldsymbol{r} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{U}_{1} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T} = \boldsymbol{A}_{U}^{T}. \quad (D.10)$$

We can also explicitly calculate b_{Φ} to find

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\hbar}} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{d}_{q} - i\boldsymbol{d}_{p} + \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{*} \tanh \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{\dagger} \left(\boldsymbol{d}_{q} + i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}\right) \\ -\boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{\dagger} \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \left(\boldsymbol{d}_{q} - i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}\right) \\ \boldsymbol{d}_{q} + i\boldsymbol{d}_{p} + \boldsymbol{U}_{1} \tanh \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \left(\boldsymbol{d}_{q} - i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}\right) \\ -\boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{T} \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \left(\boldsymbol{d}_{q} + i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}\right) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{a}^{*} + \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{*} \tanh \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{a} \\ -\boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{\dagger} \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{a}^{*} \\ \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{U}_{1} \tanh \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{a}^{*} \\ -\boldsymbol{U}_{2}^{T} \operatorname{sech} \boldsymbol{r} \boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{a}^{*} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{U}^{*} \\ \boldsymbol{b}_{U} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (D.11)$$

where we wrote $\boldsymbol{d} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{d}_q \\ \boldsymbol{d}_p \end{bmatrix}$ and introduced $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\hbar}} (\boldsymbol{d}_q + i\boldsymbol{d}_p)$. Finally, we find for the scalar *c*

$$c_{\Phi} = \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{4\hbar}\left[||\boldsymbol{d}||^{2} + (\boldsymbol{d}_{q}^{T} - i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}^{T})\boldsymbol{U}_{1}\tanh\boldsymbol{r}\boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T}(\boldsymbol{d}_{q} - i\boldsymbol{d}_{p}) + \text{c.c.}\right]\right)}{\prod_{i=1}^{M}\cosh r_{i}}$$

$$= \frac{\exp\left(-||\boldsymbol{a}||^{2} - \Re\left[\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{U}_{1}\tanh\boldsymbol{r}\boldsymbol{U}_{1}^{T}\boldsymbol{a}^{*}\right]\right)}{\prod_{i=1}^{M}\cosh r_{i}} = |c_{U}|^{2}.$$
(D.12)

E Passive processes

Now consider the case of non-unitary passive process specified by a transfer matrix T, $T^{\dagger}T \leq \mathbb{1}_{M}$. For this process $X = \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{R}(T) - \mathfrak{I}(T) \\ \mathfrak{I}(T) & \mathfrak{R}(T) \end{bmatrix}$ and $Y = \frac{\hbar}{2} (\mathbb{1}_{2M} - XX^{T})$. Since the process is passive we know that $\xi = \mathbb{1}_{2M}$. We can simplify the expression to obtain

$$P_{2M}\left[\mathbb{1}_{4M} - \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{\mathbb{1}_{4M}}{2}\right)^{-1}\right] = E(t) \begin{bmatrix} 0_M & T^* & 0_M & 0_M \\ T^\dagger & 0_M & 0_M & \mathbb{1}_M - T^\dagger T \\ 0_M & 0_M & 0_M & T \\ 0_M & \mathbb{1}_M - T^T T^* & T^T & 0_M \end{bmatrix} E(t). \quad (E.1)$$

Following the Choi-Jamiołkowski relation we gave in Eq. (B.11), the A_{Φ} for the lossy interferometer is

$$A_{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{M} & T^{*} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} \\ T^{\dagger} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} - T^{\dagger}T \\ 0_{M} & 0_{M} & 0_{M} & T \\ 0_{M} & \mathbb{1}_{M} - T^{T}T^{*} & T^{T} & 0_{M} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(E.2)

If we sandwich A_{Φ} with a permutation matrix P_{4123} , we would have:

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{4123}\boldsymbol{A}_{\Phi}\boldsymbol{P}_{4123}^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{1}_{M} - \boldsymbol{T}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{T} & \boldsymbol{T}^{\dagger} \\ \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{T} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{1}_{M} - \boldsymbol{T}^{T}\boldsymbol{T}^{*} & \boldsymbol{T}^{T} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{T}^{*} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} & \boldsymbol{0}_{M} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(E.3)

г

Sci Post

To get the probability with a measurement of photon number pattern $j = (j_1, ..., j_M)$ given the input $i = (i_1, ..., i_M)$, we let k = i, l = j in (77):

$$G_{i\oplus j\oplus i\oplus j}^{A_{\Phi}}(\mathbf{0}) = G_{P_{4123}(i\oplus j\oplus i\oplus j)}^{P_{4123}A_{\Phi}}(\mathbf{0}) = \frac{1}{i!j!} \operatorname{haf}(P_{4123}A_{\Phi}P_{4123}^{T})_{j\oplus i\oplus j\oplus i} = \frac{1}{i!j!} \operatorname{perm} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{M} - T^{\dagger}T & T^{\dagger} \\ T & 0_{M} \end{bmatrix}_{j\oplus i}.$$
 (E.4)

Global phase of the composition of two Gaussian F transformations

In this section, we find an expression for the global phase of the transformation obtained by applying two consecutive Gaussian transformations. To this end we find the triplet $A_{U_{\ell}}, b_{U_{\ell}}, c_{U_{\ell}}$ associated with the Q function of the net transformation $\mathcal{U}_f = \mathcal{U}_1 \mathcal{U}_2$ in terms of the triplets A, b, c specifying the Husimi functions of the transformations U_1 and U_2 .

Eq. (23) of Ref. [22] shows that the Husimi Q function of an arbitrary Gaussian unitary can be characterized by three quantities C, μ , and Σ . As we already know the relation between $(C, \mu, \Sigma) = (c_U, b_U, -A_U)$, now we will rewrite the Husimi Q-function for an arbitrary Gaussian unitary as:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{a}^* | \mathcal{U} | \boldsymbol{\beta} \rangle = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \left[||\boldsymbol{a}||^2 + ||\boldsymbol{\beta}||^2 \right] \right) c_U \exp\left(\boldsymbol{b}_U^T \boldsymbol{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\nu}^T \boldsymbol{A}_U \boldsymbol{\nu} \right), \text{ where } \boldsymbol{\nu} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{a} \\ \boldsymbol{\beta} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (E.1)$$

We first compose the two transformations and then insert the resolution of the identity $\frac{1}{\pi^M} \int_{\mathbb{C}^M} d^{2M} \boldsymbol{\alpha} |\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}| = I$ to find:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 I \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle = \frac{1}{\pi^M} \int_{\mathbb{C}^M} d^{2M} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^* | \mathcal{U}_1 | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha} | \mathcal{U}_2 | \boldsymbol{\beta}' \rangle , \qquad (E.2)$$

where $d^{2M} \boldsymbol{a} = d^M \mathfrak{R}(\boldsymbol{a}) d^M \mathfrak{I}(\boldsymbol{a})$. Using the expressions for the *Q*-functions of \mathcal{U}_1 and \mathcal{U}_2 we find

$$\frac{1}{\pi^{M}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{M}} d^{2M} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \left[||\boldsymbol{\beta}||^{2} + 2||\boldsymbol{\alpha}||^{2} + ||\boldsymbol{\beta}'||^{2} \right] \right) c_{U_{1}} c_{U_{2}} \exp\left(\boldsymbol{b}_{U_{1}}^{T} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{1} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{A}_{U_{1}} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{1} + \boldsymbol{b}_{U_{2}}^{T} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{2} + \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{2}^{T} \boldsymbol{A}_{U_{2}} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{2} \right),$$
(F.3)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_1^T = [\boldsymbol{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}], \quad \boldsymbol{\nu}_2^T = [\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*, \boldsymbol{\beta}'].$$
 (E4)

The integral above can be simplified as

$$\frac{1}{\pi^{M}}c_{U_{1}}c_{U_{2}}\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left[||\boldsymbol{\beta}||^{2}+||\boldsymbol{\beta}'||^{2}\right]+c_{1}^{T}\boldsymbol{\beta}+d_{2}^{T}\boldsymbol{\beta}'+\boldsymbol{\beta}^{T}\boldsymbol{B}_{1}\boldsymbol{\beta}+\boldsymbol{\beta}'^{T}\boldsymbol{D}_{2}\boldsymbol{\beta}'\right)$$
(F.5)

$$\times \int_{\mathbb{C}^{M}} d^{2M} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} [\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T*}] \begin{bmatrix} -\boldsymbol{D}_{1} & \boldsymbol{\mathbb{1}}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathbb{1}}_{M} & -\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{*} \end{bmatrix} + [\boldsymbol{d}_{1}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{T} \boldsymbol{C}_{1}, \boldsymbol{c}_{2}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime T} \boldsymbol{C}_{2}^{T}] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \right), \quad (E6)$$

where we introduced

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{U_i}^T = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{c}_i^T, \boldsymbol{d}_i^T \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{A}_{U_i} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{B}_i & \boldsymbol{C}_i \\ \hline \boldsymbol{C}_i^T & \boldsymbol{D}_i \end{bmatrix}.$$
(E.7)

The last integral can be written explicitly as

$$\frac{\pi^{M}}{\sqrt{\det(\mathbb{1}_{M}-\boldsymbol{D}_{1}\boldsymbol{B}_{2})}}\exp\left(\frac{1}{2}[\boldsymbol{d}_{1}^{T}+\boldsymbol{\beta}^{T}\boldsymbol{C}_{1},\boldsymbol{c}_{2}^{T}+\boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime T}\boldsymbol{C}_{2}^{T}]\begin{bmatrix}-\boldsymbol{D}_{1} & \mathbb{1}_{M}\\ \mathbb{1}_{M} & -\boldsymbol{B}_{2}\end{bmatrix}^{-1}\begin{bmatrix}\boldsymbol{d}_{1}+\boldsymbol{C}_{1}^{T}\boldsymbol{\beta}\\ \boldsymbol{c}_{2}+\boldsymbol{C}_{2}\boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime}\end{bmatrix}\right), \quad (E8)$$

where we wrote $\begin{bmatrix} a \\ a^* \end{bmatrix} = M \begin{bmatrix} \Re(a) \\ \Im(a) \end{bmatrix}$ with $M = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M & i\mathbb{1}_M \\ \mathbb{1}_M & -i\mathbb{1}_M \end{bmatrix}$, used the well known real integral $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} d^n x \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}x^T A x + b^T x\right) = \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^n}{\det A}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}b^T A^{-1}B\right)$ and the fact that $\det\left(M^T \begin{bmatrix} -D_1 & \mathbb{1}_M \\ \mathbb{1}_M & -B_2 \end{bmatrix} M\right) = 2^{2M} \det(\mathbb{1}_M - D_1 B_2)$ (see also Theorem 3 of Appendix A of Folland [21]).

If we define

$$\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{1}_M - \boldsymbol{B}_2 \boldsymbol{D}_1$$
 (note that $\mathcal{Y}^T = \mathbb{1}_M - \boldsymbol{D}_1 \boldsymbol{B}_2$ since $\boldsymbol{D}_1, \boldsymbol{B}_2$ are symmetric), (E.9)

then the inverse appearing in the last equation can be obtained using Schur complements and is given by,

$$\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z}^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} -\boldsymbol{D}_{1} & \boldsymbol{\mathbb{1}}_{M} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathbb{1}}_{M} & -\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{Y}^{-1}\boldsymbol{B}_{2} & \mathcal{Y}^{-1} \\ [\mathcal{Y}^{T}]^{-1} & \boldsymbol{D}_{1}\mathcal{Y}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (F.10)

This expression allows us to write

. .

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\beta}^{*} | \mathcal{U}_{f} | \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \rangle = \frac{c_{U_{1}} c_{U_{2}}}{\sqrt{\det(\mathcal{Y})}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \left[||\boldsymbol{\beta}||^{2} + ||\boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime}||^{2} \right] + c_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{\beta} + d_{2}^{T} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{T} \boldsymbol{B}_{1} \boldsymbol{\beta} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime T} \boldsymbol{D}_{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \right)$$

$$\times \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \left[d_{1}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{T} \boldsymbol{C}_{1}, c_{2}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime T} \boldsymbol{C}_{2}^{T} \right] \mathcal{Z} \left[d_{1} + \boldsymbol{C}_{1}^{T} \boldsymbol{\beta} \\ c_{2} + \boldsymbol{C}_{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \right] \right)$$

$$= \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \left[||\boldsymbol{\beta}||^{2} + ||\boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime}||^{2} \right] \right) \underbrace{\frac{c_{U_{1}} c_{U_{2}}}{\sqrt{\det(\mathcal{Y})}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \left[d_{1}^{T}, c_{2}^{T} \right] \mathcal{Z} \left[d_{1} \\ c_{2} \right] \right)}_{\equiv c_{U_{f}}}$$

$$\times \exp\left(\underbrace{\left[\left[(c_{1}^{T}, d_{2}^{T} \right] + \left[d_{1}^{T}, c_{2}^{T} \right] \mathcal{Z} \left\{ C_{1}^{T} \oplus C_{2} \right\} \right] \left[\boldsymbol{\beta} \\ \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \right] \right) \right)$$

$$\times \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\beta}^{T}, \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime T} \right] \underbrace{\left[\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \oplus \boldsymbol{D}_{2} + \left\{ C_{1} \oplus C_{2}^{T} \right\} \mathcal{Z} \left\{ C_{1}^{T} \oplus C_{2} \right\} \right] \left[\boldsymbol{\beta} \\ \boldsymbol{\beta}^{\prime} \right] \right).$$

$$(F.12)$$

G Riemannian gradient of the unitary group

The Riemannian metric of the unitary group at point *A* is:

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_A = \langle A^{-1}X, A^{-1}Y \rangle_{\mathbb{1}_{2n}} = \operatorname{Tr}\left((A^{-1}X)^{\dagger}A^{-1}Y \right), \quad X, Y \in T_A \cup (n, \mathbb{C}).$$
 (G.1)

The Riemannian gradient $\nabla_A f$ at point A of a sufficiently regular function $f : U(n, \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C})$ associated to the Riemannian metric satisfies

$$\nabla_A f = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_A f - A \partial_A^{\dagger} f A \right). \tag{G.2}$$

Proof. According to the compatibility of the Riemannian gradient with the Riemannian metric (defined in Eq. (G.1)), we have:

$$\langle \nabla_A f, T \rangle_A = \langle \partial_A f, T \rangle_{\text{euc}}, \quad \forall T \in T_A \text{Sp},$$
 (G.3)

that it,

$$\langle \partial_A f - A^{-\dagger} A^{-1} \nabla_A f, T \rangle_{\text{euc}} = 0.$$
 (G.4)

This implies that $\partial_A f - A^{-\dagger} A^{-1} \nabla_A f \in N_A U$. So we have, with $AA^{\dagger} = 1$:

$$\partial_A f - A^{-\dagger} A^{-1} \nabla_A f = AN \,, \tag{G.5}$$

$$\partial_A f = \nabla_A f + AN \,. \tag{G.6}$$

Using the tangency condition $\nabla_A f \in T_A U$, we know

$$(\nabla_A f)^{\dagger} A + A^{\dagger} \nabla_A f = 0_n.$$
 (G.7)

Together Eq. (G.7) and Eq. (G.6) with $N = N^{\dagger}$, we solve

$$N = \frac{1}{2} \left(A^{\dagger} \partial_A f + \partial_A^{\dagger} f A \right).$$
 (G.8)

Thus we obtain

$$\nabla_{A}f = \partial_{A}f - A\frac{1}{2} \left(A^{\dagger}\partial_{A}f + \partial_{A}^{\dagger}f A \right)$$
(G.9)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_A f - A \partial_A^{\dagger} f A \right). \tag{G.10}$$

H Solution of the cubic phase state optimization

Here we report the symplectic matrix of the Gaussian transformation in circuit 4b:

[[0.336437829,	-0.587437101,	0.151967502,	2.011467789,	1.858626268,	-1.401857238],
[1.416888301,	0.409496273,	0.448704546,	-1.759418716,	-5.552019032,	2.056880833],
[-0.477864655,	0.14143573,	-2.111321823,	-2.485020087,	-4.623168982,	2.511539347],
[-5.701053833,	1.587452315,	0.364136769,	-1.343878855,	12.237643127,	-2.543280972],
[-2.302558433,	1.344598162,	0.378523959,	-2.291630056,	3.35733036 ,	0.527469667],
[-1.386435201,	0.479622105,	-0.771833605,	-1.523680547,	0.579084776,	0.246557173]]

As well as the displacements in x and y of the three displacement gates:

[-0.642981239, 2.326888363, 3.021233284] [2.266497837, -1.655566694, -2.858640664]

Note that we formatted them so that they can be easily copy-pasted from this document to a Jupyter notebook, or Python file (for instance to create a Numpy array).

I Comparison of Riemannian optimization and Euclidean optimization

We compare different optimization circuits to show the fast convergence of the Riemannian method. The 4-mode circuit device has three different structures shown in Fig. 8, which include three optimization methods:

(a) Symplectic optimization, in which the symplectic matrix of a Gaussian multimode gate is updated following the Riemannian manifold gradient as in Eq. (138).

- (b) Unitary optimization, in which we update the unitary matrix of the Interferometer on its Riemannian manifold as in Eq. (141). The squeezing gates are optimized using Euclidean gradients.
- (c) Euclidean optimization, in which all the parameters of a gate-decomposed circuit are updated according to the gradient.

Note that there are several methods to decompose a multi-mode interferometer into a beamsplitter network (of which many implementations exist [71–75]) and here we just pick one of them (shown in the circuit (c) of Fig. 8) to show the optimization.

We performed three experiments with a randomly chosen PNR pattern [3, 1, 5] on the last three modes. The cost function to be optimized is the fidelity between the output state and the target cat state. The learning rate is chosen as 0.003 for the three optimization methods. This is an important hyperparameter and there is a significant room for further investigation, however for the sake of fairness we choose the same value for all three of them.

The results are shown in Fig. 9, which represents the average of the loss curves with 20 random seed optimization processes. The green solid line shows that circuit (a) in Fig. 8 has the fastest convergence achieving unit fidelity in around 10 steps. Surprisingly, the blue solid line shows that circuit (b) is slower than the orange solid line corresponding to circuit (c).

We analyze the optimization timing distribution of each run in Fig. 10. Two Riemannian methods (symplectic and unitary group optimization) spend around 1.25 seconds for each optimization, which is two times faster compared with the Euclidean method which finished in around 2.5 seconds.



Figure 8: Four-mode circuit optimization. (a) Four-mode Gaussian transformation with PNR on the last three modes. This shows the symplectic optimization of the Gaussian object. (b) Four single-mode squeezed vacuum followed by a four-mode Interferometer with PNR on the last three modes. This includes both Euclidean optimization of the four squeezed vacuum states and unitary optimization of the interferometer. (c) Four single-mode squeezed vacuum followed by a beamsplitter network on every two modes with PNR on the last three modes. This includes both Euclidean optimization of the four squeezed vacuum states and three modes. This includes both Euclidean optimization of the four squeezed vacuum states and the beamsplitters.



Figure 9: Comparison of the cost function in steps for three optimization circuits to prepare the cat state. The solid line represents the average of cost functions with 20 random seeds. The green solid line corresponds to circuit (a) in Fig. 8, the orange line corresponds to circuit (c) and the blue one corresponds to circuit (b).



Figure 10: Time distribution of the training. The green line group corresponds to circuit (a) in Fig. 8, the orange line group corresponds to circuit (c) and the blue line group corresponds to circuit (b). In each group, the probability distribution function and the sample distribution are plotted.

References

- [1] F. Miatto et al., Mrmustard (2021), https://github.com/XanaduAI/MrMustard.
- [2] C. Weedbrook, S. Pirandola, R. García-Patrón, N. J. Cerf, T. C. Ralph, J. H. Shapiro and S. Lloyd, *Gaussian quantum information*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, 621 (2012), doi:10.1103/revmodphys.84.621.
- [3] J. B. Brask, *Gaussian states and operations A quick reference*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2102.05748.
- [4] W. Vogel and D. Welsch, *Quantum optics*, Wiley, Weinheim, Germany, ISBN 9783527608522 (2006), doi:10.1002/3527608524.
- [5] C. Gerry and P. Knight, *Introductory quantum optics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521527354 (2004), doi:10.1017/cbo9780511791239.
- [6] G. Cariolaro, *Quantum communications*, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783319155999 (2015), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-15600-2.
- [7] M. Amazioug, M. Nassik and N. Habiballah, Entanglement, EPR steering and Gaussian geometric discord in a double cavity optomechanical systems, Eur. Phys. J. D 72, 171 (2018), doi:10.1140/epjd/e2018-90151-6.
- [8] J. R. McClean, J. Romero, R. Babbush and A. Aspuru-Guzik, *The theory of variational hybrid quantum-classical algorithms*, New J. Phys. **18**, 023023 (2016), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/18/2/023023.
- [9] M. W. Matsen, *The standard Gaussian model for block copolymer melts*, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 14, R21 (2001), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/14/2/201.
- [10] C. S. Hamilton, R. Kruse, L. Sansoni, S. Barkhofen, C. Silberhorn and I. Jex, *Gaussian boson sampling*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 170501 (2017), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.119.170501.
- [11] N. Quesada, Franck-Condon factors by counting perfect matchings of graphs with loops, J. Chem. Phys. 150, 150 (2019), doi:10.1063/1.5086387.
- [12] N. Quesada, L. G. Helt, J. Izaac, J. M. Arrazola, R. Shahrokhshahi, C. R. Myers and K. K. Sabapathy, *Simulating realistic non-Gaussian state preparation*, Phys. Rev. A **100**, 022341 (2019), doi:10.1103/physreva.100.022341.
- [13] V. V. Dodonov, O. V. Man'ko and V. I. Man'ko, Multidimensional Hermite polynomials and photon distribution for polymode mixed light, Phys. Rev. A 50, 813 (1994), doi:10.1103/physreva.50.813.
- [14] D. Grier, D. J. Brod, J. M. Arrazola, M. B. de Andrade Alonso and N. Quesada, *The complexity of bipartite Gaussian boson sampling*, Quantum 6, 863 (2022), doi:10.22331/q-2022-11-28-863.
- [15] J. Martínez-Cifuentes, H. de Guise and N. Quesada, Linear cross-entropy certification of quantum computational advantage in Gaussian boson sampling, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2403.15339.
- [16] E. V. Doktorov, I. A. Malkin and V. I. Man'ko, Dynamical symmetry of vibronic transitions in polyatomic molecules and the Franck-Condon principle, J. Mol. Spectrosc. 56, 1 (1975), doi:10.1016/0022-2852(75)90199-x.

- [17] R. Berger, C. Fischer and M. Klessinger, Calculation of the vibronic fine structure in electronic spectra at higher temperatures. 1. Benzene and pyrazine, J. Phys. Chem. A 102, 7157 (1998), doi:10.1021/jp981597w.
- [18] D. Gruner and P. Brumer, Efficient evaluation of harmonic polyatomic Franck-Condon factors, Chem. Phys. Lett. 138, 310 (1987), doi:10.1016/0009-2614(87)80389-5.
- [19] S. M. Rabidoux, V. Eijkhout and J. F. Stanton, A highly-efficient implementation of the Doktorov recurrence equations for Franck-Condon calculations, J. Chem. Theory Comput. 12, 728 (2016), doi:10.1021/acs.jctc.5b00560.
- [20] J. Huh, Multimode Bogoliubov transformation and Husimi's Q-function, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 1612, 012015 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1612/1/012015.
- [21] G. B. Folland, Harmonic analysis in phase space, Princeton University Press, Princeton, USA, ISBN 9781400882427 (2016), doi:10.1515/9781400882427.
- [22] F. M. Miatto and N. Quesada, Fast optimization of parametrized quantum optical circuits, Quantum 4, 366 (2020), doi:10.22331/q-2020-11-30-366.
- [23] B. Gupt, J. Izaac and N. Quesada, The Walrus: A library for the calculation of hafnians, Hermite polynomials and Gaussian boson sampling, J. Open Source Softw. 4, 1705 (2019), doi:10.21105/joss.01705.
- [24] N. Killoran, J. Izaac, N. Quesada, V. Bergholm, M. Amy and C. Weedbrook, *Strawberry Fields: A software platform for photonic quantum computing*, Quantum 3, 129 (2019), doi:10.22331/q-2019-03-11-129.
- [25] J. R. Johansson, P. D. Nation and F. Nori, QuTiP: An open-source Python framework for the dynamics of open quantum systems, Comput. Phys. Commun. 183, 1760 (2012), doi:10.1016/j.cpc.2012.02.021.
- [26] J. R. Johansson, P. D. Nation and F. Nori, QuTiP 2: A Python framework for the dynamics of open quantum systems, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184, 1234 (2013), doi:10.1016/j.cpc.2012.11.019.
- [27] N. Heurtel, S. Mansfield, J. Senellart and B. Valiron, Strong simulation of linear optical processes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 291, 108848 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.cpc.2023.108848.
- [28] N. Heurtel et al., Perceval: A software platform for discrete variable photonic quantum computing, Quantum 7, 931 (2023), doi:10.22331/q-2023-02-21-931.
- [29] Z. Kolarovszki et al., *Piquasso: A photonic quantum computer simulation software platform*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2403.04006.
- [30] X. Valcarce, P. Sekatski, E. Gouzien, A. Melnikov and N. Sangouard, Automated design of quantum-optical experiments for device-independent quantum key distribution, Phys. Rev. A 107, 062607 (2023), doi:10.1103/physreva.107.062607.
- [31] J. M. Arrazola, T. R. Bromley, J. Izaac, C. R. Myers, K. Brádler and N. Killoran, Machine learning method for state preparation and gate synthesis on photonic quantum computers, Quantum Sci. Technol. 4, 024004 (2019), doi:10.1088/2058-9565/aaf59e.
- [32] P. Kok and S. L. Braunstein, *Multi-dimensional Hermite polynomials in quantum optics*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 34, 6185 (2001), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/34/31/312.

- [33] R. Kruse, C. S. Hamilton, L. Sansoni, S. Barkhofen, C. Silberhorn and I. Jex, Detailed study of Gaussian boson sampling, Phys. Rev. A 100, 032326 (2019), doi:10.1103/physreva.100.032326.
- [34] X. Ma and W. Rhodes, *Multimode squeeze operators and squeezed states*, Phys. Rev. A **41**, 4625 (1990), doi:10.1103/physreva.41.4625.
- [35] F. M. Miatto, Recursive multivariate derivatives of $e^{f(x_1,...,x_n)}$ of arbitrary order, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1911.11722.
- [36] J. E. Bourassa, N. Quesada, I. Tzitrin, A. Száva, T. Isacsson, J. Izaac, K. K. Sabapathy, G. Dauphinais and I. Dhand, *Fast simulation of bosonic qubits via Gaussian functions in phase space*, PRX Quantum 2, 040315 (2021), doi:10.1103/prxquantum.2.040315.
- [37] G. Adesso, S. Ragy and A. R. Lee, Continuous variable quantum information: Gaussian states and beyond, Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 21, 1440001 (2014), doi:10.1142/s1230161214400010.
- [38] A. Serafini, *Quantum continuous variables*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, ISBN 9781315118727 (2017), doi:10.1201/9781315118727.
- [39] T. Kalajdzievski and N. Quesada, *Exact and approximate continuous-variable gate decompositions*, Quantum 5, 394 (2021), doi:10.22331/q-2021-02-08-394.
- [40] U. Chabaud, D. Markham and F. Grosshans, Stellar representation of non-Gaussian quantum states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 063605 (2020), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.124.063605.
- [41] M.-D. Choi, Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices, Linear Algebra Appl. 10, 285 (1975), doi:10.1016/0024-3795(75)90075-0.
- [42] A. Jamiołkowski, Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators, Rep. Math. Phys. 3, 275 (1972), doi:10.1016/0034-4877(72)90011-0.
- [43] J. Provazník, R. Filip and P. Marek, Taming numerical errors in simulations of continuous variable non-Gaussian state preparation, Sci. Rep. 12, 16574 (2022), doi:10.1038/s41598-022-19506-9.
- [44] A. Björklund, B. Gupt and N. Quesada, A faster hafnian formula for complex matrices and its benchmarking on a supercomputer, ACM J. Exp. Algorithmics 24, 1 (2019), doi:10.1145/3325111.
- [45] J. F. F. Bulmer et al., The boundary for quantum advantage in Gaussian boson sampling, Sci. Adv. 8, eabl9236 (2022), doi:10.1126/sciadv.abl9236.
- [46] L. Banchi, N. Quesada and J. M. Arrazola, *Training Gaussian boson sampling distributions*, Phys. Rev. A **102**, 012417 (2020), doi:10.1103/physreva.102.012417.
- [47] R. De Prins, Y. Yao, A. Apte and F. M. Miatto, A quadratic speedup in the optimization of noisy quantum optical circuits, Quantum 7, 1097 (2023), doi:10.22331/q-2023-08-29-1097.
- [48] J. F. F. Bulmer, S. Paesani, R. S. Chadwick and N. Quesada, *Threshold detection statistics of bosonic states*, Phys. Rev. A 106, 043712 (2022), doi:10.1103/physreva.106.043712.
- [49] N. C. Menicucci, S. T. Flammia and P. van Loock, *Graphical calculus for Gaussian pure states*, Phys. Rev. A 83, 042335 (2011), doi:10.1103/physreva.83.042335.

- [50] N. Gabay and N. C. Menicucci, Passive interferometric symmetries of multimode Gaussian pure states, Phys. Rev. A 93, 052326 (2016), doi:10.1103/physreva.93.052326.
- [51] M. Krenn, X. Gu and A. Zeilinger, Quantum experiments and graphs: Multiparty states as coherent superpositions of perfect matchings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 240403 (2017), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.119.240403.
- [52] X. Gu, M. Erhard, A. Zeilinger and M. Krenn, Quantum experiments and graphs II: Quantum interference, computation, and state generation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 116, 4147 (2019), doi:10.1073/pnas.1815884116.
- [53] X. Gu, L. Chen, A. Zeilinger and M. Krenn, Quantum experiments and graphs. III. High-dimensional and multiparticle entanglement, Phys. Rev. A 99, 032338 (2019), doi:10.1103/physreva.99.032338.
- [54] C. Ruiz-Gonzalez, S. Arlt, J. Petermann, S. Sayyad, T. Jaouni, E. Karimi, N. Tischler, X. Gu and M. Krenn, *Digital discovery of 100 diverse quantum experiments with PyTheus*, Quantum 7, 1204 (2023), doi:10.22331/q-2023-12-1204.
- [55] E. R. Caianiello, On quantum field theory I: Explicit solution of Dyson's equation in electrodynamics without use of Feynman graphs, Nuovo Cimento 10, 1634 (1953), doi:10.1007/bf02781659.
- [56] L. Troyansky and N. Tishby, On the quantum evaluation of the determinant and the permanent of a matrix, Proc. Phys. Comput **96** (1996).
- [57] S. Aaronson and A. Arkhipov, The computational complexity of linear optics, in Proceedings of the forty-third annual ACM symposium on theory of computing, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, USA, ISBN 9781450306911 (2011), doi:10.1145/1993636.1993682.
- [58] G. Bressanini, H. Kwon and M. S. Kim, Noise thresholds for classical simulability of nonlinear boson sampling, Phys. Rev. A 106, 042413 (2022), doi:10.1103/physreva.106.042413.
- [59] G. S. Agarwal, Quantum optics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781107006409 (2012), doi:10.1017/cbo9781139035170.
- [60] S. Fiori, *Quasi-geodesic neural learning algorithms over the orthogonal group: A tutorial*, J. Mach. Learn. Res. **6**, 743 (2005).
- [61] J. Wang, H. Sun and S. Fiori, A Riemannian-steepest-descent approach for optimization on the real symplectic group, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 41, 4273 (2018), doi:10.1002/mma.4890.
- [62] N. Quesada et al., *Thewalrus* (2018), https://github.com/XanaduAI/thewalrus.
- [63] A. Deshpande et al., *Quantum computational advantage via high-dimensional Gaussian* boson sampling, Sci. Adv. **8**, eabi7894 (2022), doi:10.1126/sciadv.abi7894.
- [64] L. S. Madsen et al., *Quantum computational advantage with a programmable photonic processor*, Nature **606**, 75 (2022), doi:10.1038/s41586-022-04725-x.
- [65] D. Gottesman, A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, *Encoding a qubit in an oscillator*, Phys. Rev. A 64, 012310 (2001), doi:10.1103/physreva.64.012310.

- [66] J. Marshall and N. Anand, *Simulation of quantum optics by coherent state decomposition*, Opt. Quantum 1, 78 (2023), doi:10.1364/opticaq.504311.
- [67] N. Shukla, S. Nimmrichter and B. C. Sanders, Squeezed comb states, Phys. Rev. A 103, 012408 (2021), doi:10.1103/physreva.103.012408.
- [68] K. Tara, G. S. Agarwal and S. Chaturvedi, Production of Schrödinger macroscopic quantum-superposition states in a Kerr medium, Phys. Rev. A 47, 5024 (1993), doi:10.1103/physreva.47.5024.
- [69] K. Fukui, S. Takeda, M. Endo, W. Asavanant, J.-i. Yoshikawa, P. van Loock and A. Furusawa, *Efficient backcasting search for optical quantum state synthesis*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 240503 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.240503.
- [70] M. Houde, W. McCutcheon and N. Quesada, Matrix decompositions in quantum optics: Takagi/Autonne, Bloch-Messiah/Euler, Iwasawa, and Williamson, Can. J. Phys. (2024), doi:10.1139/cjp-2024-0070.
- [71] M. Reck, A. Zeilinger, H. J. Bernstein and P. Bertani, *Experimental realization of any discrete unitary operator*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **73**, 58 (1994), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.73.58.
- [72] W. R. Clements, P. C. Humphreys, B. J. Metcalf, W. Steven Kolthammer and I. A. Walsmley, *Optimal design for universal multiport interferometers*, Optica 3, 1460 (2016), doi:10.1364/optica.3.001460.
- [73] H. de Guise, O. Di Matteo and L. L. Sánchez-Soto, Simple factorization of unitary transformations, Phys. Rev. A 97, 022328 (2018), doi:10.1103/physreva.97.022328.
- [74] B. A. Bell and I. A. Walmsley, *Further compactifying linear optical unitaries*, APL Photonics 6, 7 (2021), doi:10.1063/5.0053421.
- [75] V. López Pastor, J. Lundeen and F. Marquardt, *Arbitrary optical wave evolution with Fourier transforms and phase masks*, Opt. Express **29**, 38441 (2021), doi:10.1364/oe.432787.